
1

NOTICE OF MEETING
CABINET MEMBER FOR CULTURE, LEISURE AND SPORT

FRIDAY, 15 JULY 2016 AT 9.00 AM

CONFERENCE ROOM A - SECOND FLOOR, CIVIC OFFICES

Telephone enquiries to Lisa Gallacher 02392834056
Email: lisa.gallacher@portsmouthcc.gov.uk

CABINET MEMBER FOR CULTURE, LEISURE AND SPORT
Councillor Linda Symes (Conservative)

Group Spokespersons

Councillor Lee Hunt, Liberal Democrat
Councillor Stephen Morgan, Labour
Councillor Julie Swan, UK Independence Party

(NB This Agenda should be retained for future reference with the minutes of this meeting.)

Please note that the agenda, minutes and non-exempt reports are available to view online on 
the Portsmouth City Council website:  www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Deputations by members of the public may be made on any item where a decision is 
going to be taken. The request should be made in writing to the contact officer (above) by 
12 noon of the working day before the meeting, and must include the purpose of the 
deputation (for example, for or against the recommendations). Email requests are 
accepted.

A G E N D A

1  Apologies for absence 

2  Declarations of interest 

3  Portsmouth Summer Show (Pages 1 - 6)

Purpose of report

The purpose of the report is to provide the Cabinet Member with an initial 
evaluation on the delivery of the Portsmouth Summer Show and the Mutiny 
Festival which took place at King George V Playing Field in May 2016 and to 
seek authority to undertake negotiations with the event providers for a further 



2

five year contract for each event.

RECOMMENDED

(1) That the update report on the operation and delivery of both the 
Portsmouth Summer Show and the Mutiny Festival be noted and that 
the professional approach, delivery and responsiveness around all 
aspects of the event by the event organisers be noted.

(2) That officers be authorised to negotiate with the organisers of the 
two events to implement findings from the review process for both 
their events to support the delivery of improved events in the future.

(3) That officers be authorised to work with the event organisers of both 
the Portsmouth Summer Show and the Mutiny Festival to support the 
delivery of an annual event for both events from 2017 - 2020 with the 
ability to extend this on the same contract for a further 2 years (2021 
- 2022).

4  Bookfest 2017 (Pages 7 - 42)

Purpose of report 
To inform the Cabinet Member of the increased audience attendances at this 
year's BookFest following its rescheduling; the continuing impact of 
partnerships with local authors and venues and to make recommendations 
that will further improve aspects of the event, including ticketing arrangements. 

RECOMMENDED

(1) That BookFest continues to take place in February and early March.

(2) That BookFest continues to work with local authors and writers' 
groups to present a wide range of events.

(3) That the Portsmouth Short Story Prize becomes an annual event 
and is opened up to anyone who lives, works or studies in the city 
or can demonstrate a close personal connection to the city.

(4) That different solutions for online ticketing are investigated

5  Library and Archives Annual Update Report 2016/17 (Pages 43 - 58)

Purpose of report 

(1) To update and inform the Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure and 
Sport of the work carried out by the Portsmouth Library and Archive 
Services in the last twelve months, i.e. 2015/16. 

(2) To update on the activities undertaken to address the 
recommendations for action agreed in the 2015 Libraries and Archives 



3

Update Report.

(3) To make recommendations for additional actions to be undertaken in 
Portsmouth Libraries and Archives in line with the Business Plan for the 
period 2016/17

RECOMMENDED
(1) That the updates to the agreed actions from the Portsmouth 

Libraries and Archives Annual Update Report 2014/15, shown at 3 
be noted.

(2) That  the following actions and activities at 2.2 .1 - 9 be carried 
forward from the 2015/16 Portsmouth Libraries Update Report to 
be delivered or continued in 2016/17:

(a) Deliver annual budget savings (2016/17).

(b) Increase volunteer hours with the Library and Archive Services by 
5% annually

(c) Develop and agree a policy for the identification, safe storage and 
management of "Born Digital" archive for Portsmouth.

(d) Continue to develop the health and wellbeing library offer 
including library engagement with Macmillan Cancer Support, 
development of dementia collections, vision impaired services 
and Books on Prescription.

(e) Exploration of a separate Archive Photographic Store

(f) Explore the refurbishment of Cosham Library within existing 
budgets.

(g) Continue to develop and support the Friends Group programme at 
libraries across the city.

(h) Explore the delivery of current archive photographic records, on-
line to improve public access.

(i) Continue the delivery and development of the following annual 
events:

 BookFest Book Festival
 Portsmouth History Fair/Archives Week event
 Summer Reading Challenge
 Portsmouth Book Awards for Picture Books, Shorter Novel and 

Longer Novel
 Portsmouth Literature Quizzes

(3) The following recommendations be added to the Library Business 



4

Plan for the forthcoming year 2016/17:

(a) Make the following changes to the Library Management System:

 Transfer from the PCC server to "hosting" on the Civica/Spydus  
server

 Upgrade from Spydus 8 to Spydus 10
 Upload the Archive catalogue to Spydus 10 and develop web 

access

(b) Publication of two Portsmouth Papers with "print on demand" 
options

(c) Delivery of digital archives project with procured external provider.

(d) Embed Portsmouth Short Story competition as an annual BookFest 
element.

(e) Development of staff training days with embedded use of "Learning
Pool" modules developed by SCL.

(f) Explore funding bids to develop subject "sites" in information stock

(g) Move the key communication model, with library members to email, 
with charges at cost for postal communication from April 2017

(h) Deliver activities and events to commemorate the 40th birthday of the 
Central Library and the 5th birthday of Southsea Library

6  Developing the D Day Museum Collection (Pages 59 - 72)

Purpose of report 
To provide details of how the D-Day Museum Collections will be developed to 
deliver the aspirations for the new D-Day Museum displays, which will open in 
late 2017 as part of the Transforming the D-Day Museum project. 

RECOMMENDED that the Cabinet Member for Culture Leisure and Sport:

(1) Approves the preparation of a separate collection development 
policy for the D-Day Museum.

(2)Notes the recent acquisition of artefacts for the D-Day Museum's 
new displays, both purchases funded by the Heritage Lottery Fund 
(HLF) grant and donations from the public.

(3)Notes that non-collection items from the old displays which are 



5

not required for the new D-Day Museum displays will be disposed 
of according to Portsmouth City Council procedures.

(4)Approves the transfer or disposal of larger accessioned items 
which are not required for the new D-Day Museum displays and 
which the museum does not have the storage space or funds to 
place in storage for the long term. This process will be carried out 
according to the Museums' Collections Development Policy.

(5) Notes that the D-Day Museum is pursuing loans of artefacts from 
museums in the UK and abroad, for use in its new displays.

(6)Notes the planned loan to the Juno Beach Centre museum in 
Normandy of one or more artefacts from the D-Day Museum's 
collection. 

7  Portsmouth Museums Annual Update (Pages 73 - 90)

Purpose of report 
To review the achievements of Portsmouth Museums Service in 2015/16 and 
to present the service’s operational ‘Plan on a Page’ (PoP) for the current 
financial year. 

RECOMMENDED

(1) The review of last year's activity and progress and on the delivery 
of the council’s museums strategy is noted, especially the 
achievement of the Arts Council England Accreditation standard 
and the successful outcome of the second round application to 
the Heritage Lottery Fund for Transforming the D-Day Museum.

(2) The project to transform the D-Day Museum continues as planned 
and as the priority for the service, including input from the 
project’s 4 advisory panels, the development of volunteering 
opportunities and the recruitment of 3 paid (living-wage) interns.

(3) A new Butterfly House is acquired for Cumberland House to 
improve the standards under which the live butterflies are kept.

(4) The Museums Service supports and facilitates the delivery of the 
Paulsgrove-based project 'Capturing the Spirit’ in partnership with 
the Paulsgrove and Wymering Trust.

(5) External funding is sought for the Conservation of the Edward 
King collection and associated activities to enhance public access 
to the collection and to support the loan of 'Night Raid on 



6

Portsmouth Docks'   from TATE.

(6) Cash donations given by the public at Cumberland House and 
Portsmouth Museum are used to support the Butterfly House and 
Edward King Conservation projects respectively. 

(7) The 'Game Over' installation at Portsmouth Museum is noted. 

(8) The Health & Safety audit at the Eastney Beam Engine House site 
is noted. 

Members of the public are now permitted to use both audio visual recording devices and social 
media during this meeting, on the understanding that it neither disrupts the meeting or records 
those stating explicitly that they do not wish to be recorded. Guidance on the use of devices at 
meetings open to the public is available on the Council's website and posters on the wall of the 
meeting's venue.



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
  

Title of meeting: 
 

Culture Leisure and Sport Decision Meeting 

Date of meeting: 
 

15 July 2016 

Subject: 
 

Portsmouth Summer Show & Mutiny Festival 

Report by: 
 

Director of Culture and City Development  

Wards affected: 
 

Cosham & Hilsea 

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council decision: No 
 

 
1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide the Cabinet Member with an initial 
 evaluation on the delivery of the Portsmouth Summer Show and the Mutiny 
 Festival which took place at King George V Playing Field in May 2016 and to 
 seek authority to undertake negotiations with the event providers for a further 
 five year contract for each event. 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the update report on the operation and delivery of both the 

Portsmouth Summer Show and the Mutiny Festival be noted and that the 
professional approach, delivery and responsiveness around all aspects of 
the event by the event organisers be noted. 

 
2.2 That officers be authorised to negotiate with the organisers of the two 

events to implement findings from the review process for both their events 
to support the delivery of improved events in the future. 

 
2.3 That officers be authorised to work with the event organisers of both the 

Portsmouth Summer Show and the Mutiny Festival to support the delivery 
of an annual event for both events from 2017 - 2020 with the ability to 
extend this on the same contract for a further 2 years (2021 - 2022).  

 
3. Background 
 
3.1  In June 2015 an initial one day large event in the form of a Portsmouth Summer 

 Show was held as a pilot event on the site at King George V Playing field in 
 Cosham.  The aim of this pilot project was to assess the suitability of the site for 
 events of this nature and to ensure that they could be delivered safely within the 
 context of that specific environment.   

  



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

  We needed to monitor the site usage with special reference to some of the 
 previous difficulties and issues which had been experienced in relation to the 
 provision of the Bonfire celebrations. 

 
3.2  Members authorised the delivery of the pilot Portsmouth Summer Show in June 

 2015 which was successfully delivered.  The feedback from the event was 
 considered at a Portsmouth Event Safety Action Group meeting (PESAG) and it 
 was concluded that large scale events could be successful delivered on the site 
 with careful consideration of all elements. A number of areas of learning were 
 subsequently considered for a further extension of events on the site in early 
 2016. 

 
3.3  As part of a consideration of the geographical spread of events and activities 

 and to ensure that there is a quality offer for residents and young people 
 especially in the north of the city the Portsmouth Summer Show event organiser 
 was asked to consider delivery of a further event for 2016.  The Council were 
 also approached by the organisers of the Mutiny Festival which had taken place 
 in Fontwell in 2015 to explore options for them to bring their event back to 
 Portsmouth. 

 
3.4  Consideration of plans for both events were presented to different PESAG 

 meetings at the end of 2015 and early 2016 and permission was given for both 
 proposed 2 day events to take place on the playing field site with due 
 consideration for the proximity of residents and how the event has an impact on 
 the local surroundings. 

 
3.5 As with all contracts for larger events officers can confirm that the contracts for 

both events, were constructed to ensure that there was a direct financial benefit 
back into the local community as part of the payment structure  Through these 
projects in 2016 funding has been achieved to support a Heritage project which 
will be taking place in Paulsgrove.  It is anticipated that any further contracts 
would have a similar direct community benefit. 

 
3.6  A significant level of work went into the preparation and planning for the use of 

 the site by both event organisers including liaison with a wide number of council 
 services and external agencies e.g. Police, Fire and Ambulance services. 

 
3.7  Both event organisers invested considerable time and resource into ensuring 

 that the communications about the event were as effective as possible with 
 newsletters to residents and business in the near vicinity and also, in the case of 
 the Mutiny Festival, a briefing meeting for ward members. 

 
3.8  Additionally both event organisers had specific meetings with Environmental 

 Health officers to consider the noise and how this would affect the closest 
 residents.  A number of specific adjustments were requested of the organisers 
 following discussion on the 'sound profiling maps' which were implemented by 
 both parties.  They were also required to have a manned phone line and 
 response team in place to deal immediately with any issues of noise which were 
 reported to the event over the weekends. 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
3.9  Regrettably neither event was blessed with beautiful weather and unusually for 

 May both events experienced unseasonably strong northerly winds when we 
 had anticipated that the events would experience the prevailing south westerly 
 winds.  This resulted in a number of noise complaints from an unexpected south 
 westerly direction from the event site down into Hilsea and North End especially 
 for the Mutiny Festival where the nature of the music had a much heavier bass 
 beat which travelled a considerable distance.   

 
3.10  Officers were present throughout the event and can confirm that all conditions of 

 the event agreement and licences were fully applied including the cessation of 
 any music at 11pm for both events. 

 
3.11  The sites were de-rigged in accordance with the event schedules and returned 

 to the management of the Parks service following a site inspection.  Some areas 
 of land have subsequently required remedial works especially where the heavy 
 fairground rides were located and these have been agreed with the event 
 organisers who are responsible for the payment of these works. 

 
3.12  Officers are currently working with the event organisers in order to fully capture 

 the learning and evaluation of the 2016 events and to ensure that there is 
 effective consideration for supporting any events going forward: 

 
  These include: 
 

 Review of the road closures including the requirement to close the public car 
park adjacent to the Pavilion site  

 Review of the road closures to support the site egress with special 
consideration of Western Parade 

 Review of the different one-way systems operated by the event organisers to 
see if there were advantages or disadvantages of either 

 Evaluation of the noise complaints to assess their direction and further 
consideration with event organisers and Environmental Health for the site 
layouts to minimise disruption to residents 

 Support of wider communications to residents to include the Hilsea and top 
of North End areas 

 Consideration of the dates of any large scale events so they are no closer 
than 6 weeks apart  

 
4. Reasons for recommendations 
 
4.1 Events are crucial to the successful fabric of the city in delivering and developing 

a range of economic and socio-economic benefits.  We know that they attract 
visitors to both the city and region and positively influence perception of place 
through the experience they deliver.  We know that they add significant value to 
local communities through additional local spend as well as supporting small 
local business who are engaged in the event delivery. 

 
 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

5. Equality impact assessment 
 
5.1  An equality impact assessment is not required as the recommendations do not 

have a negative impact on any of the protected characteristics as described in 
the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6. Legal implications 
 
6.1 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations. However 

ensuring due process is followed in relation to selecting event providers and 
ensuring adequate environmental protection measures are in place for the 
events being held should minimise any potential complaints or claims arising.  

 
7. Director of Finance's comments 
 
7.1  The recommendations contained in this report will be funded from within existing 

budgets. 
 
7.2 As a result of staging these large events there is substantial income generated 

for both PCC and other businesses in the city. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Stephen Baily 
Director of Culture and City Development  
 
 
Appendices: None 
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

None   

 
 
 
 
 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Councillor Linda Symes 
Director of Culture and City Development 





 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Title of meeting: 
 

Culture, Leisure and Sport Decision Meeting 

Date of meeting: 
 

15 July 2016 

Subject: 
 

BookFest  2017 

Report by: 
 

Director of  Culture and City Development 
 

Wards affected: 
 

All 

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council 
decision: 

No 

 

 
1. Purpose of report  

 
1.1  To inform the Cabinet Member of the increased audience attendances at this 

year's BookFest following its rescheduling; the continuing impact of partnerships 
with local authors and venues and to make recommendations that will further 
improve aspects of the event, including ticketing arrangements.  

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1          That BookFest continues to take place in February and early March. 
 
2.2          That BookFest continues to work with local authors and writers' groups to 

present a wide range of events. 
 
2.3          That the Portsmouth Short Story Prize becomes an annual event and is  

opened up to anyone who lives, works or studies in the city or can 
demonstrate a close personal connection to the city. 
 

2.4          That different solutions for online ticketing are investigated 
 
3. Background 
 
3.1           In 2016 audience figures doubled compared to 2014 with 819 people attending  

the public events compared to just over 400 in 2014. This can be attributed 
to active promotion from local authors, a wider range of events and a 
change of time of year. Early years event were a great success with all 
nine libraries sold out for the Gruffalo tea parties reaching small children 
and parents/carers from all across the city. Over 100 people attended CSI 

                Portsmouth. Its popularity is due to the unusual aspect of combining fiction 
authors with experts in the crime field in two panel debates.  

  



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 Audiences and authors are attracted to this format. BookFest will be exploring 
the delivery of this event for future years, taking into account feedback on 
timings for the day and costings. 

 
3.2           Portsmouth BookFest launched in October 2010 with the aims of promoting 

reading for pleasure and book ownership. A key aim was attracting people who 
might not ordinarily attend book events to the festival by offering accessible 
events with wide appeal. Over the years the festival has presented events with 
some high profile authors including James Herbert, Michael Morpurgo and 
Jacqueline Wilson. These events have attracted high attendance and brought in 
audiences from Portsmouth and further afield.  
 

3.3           As well as nationally known authors, BookFest has worked with local authors 
from the beginning, offering them the chance to promote their work. This year 
BookFest involved local authors much more directly in planning and promoting 
events and this has been particularly fruitful for the festival with a wide range of 
events presented and greater attendance at the festival overall.  
 

3.4           BookFest has always offered a complementing schools programme of events  
where authors give talks in schools. Schools events reached 2,959 pupils from 
18 schools this year with 1000 books sold at these events. This is a tremendous 
figure and demonstrates the way that schools events can engage so many 
children in reading.  
 

3.5 BookFest has also benefitted from partnership with local venues including Pie &  
Vinyl, the Pyramids, the Wave Maiden, Portsmouth University, the Square 
Tower, City Museum, and New Theatre Royal. Again these partnerships have 
enabled the festival to present diverse events. The partnership with Pie and 
Vinyl enabled a popular music event with Viv Albertine. Those venues also have 
their own publicity mechanisms which allows for greater exposure of BookFest 
within the city and beyond. 
 

4. Reasons for recommendations 
 
4.1           Compared with the last BookFest which took place in Autumn 2014, ticket 

numbers doubled for 2016 from around 400 to 800 attendees at public events. 
Whilst part of this success can be attributed to a higher number of free events 
taking place, the change of season for BookFest from autumn to early spring 
certainly appears to have been of benefit. The festival is no longer clashing with 
other local book festivals, which mostly take place in the autumn, nor is it 
clashing with significant social dates such as Halloween and Bonfire Night. 
Bookfest also benefitted from a wide range of events to cater to all tastes this 
year. The Viv Albertine event with Pie and Vinyl sold out very quickly and 
bestselling author Adele Parks made an appearance with the Portsmouth 
Writers' Hub. It is essential that BookFest continues to attract interesting and 
varied events. 

  



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

4.2           Engagement with local authors was particularly high this year and was of real 
benefit to the festival in terms of presenting a wide range of events and in 
promoting them. BookFest worked closely with the Portsmouth Writers' Hub and 
New Writing South to arrange events. This collaboration resulted in three talks 
about historical Portsmouth authors by Matt Wingett. It also resulted in a very 
successful event for writers with bestselling author Adele Parks. Working with 
Lynne Blackwood brought about a partnership with Peepal Tree Press, a 
publisher of British Black and Asian writers based in Leeds. Working with local 
publishing co-op Pentangle Press also brought about a well subscribed event on 
self-publishing which received 100% 'excellent' ratings. This year the CSI 
afternoon panel featured local crime authors William Sutton, J.S Law and Diana 
Bretherick. Working so closely with local authors enables BookFest to 
programme a wide range of events. Local writers also have many contacts and 
were able to help publicise BookFest. 

 
4.3           2016 Saw the launch of the Portsmouth Short Story Prize. The competition was 

a great way to promote writing talent and to promote the book festival, giving a 
structure and excitement to the launch night. The competition was open to 
writers with a PO1-PO6 postcode, thereby ensuring it really promoted local 
writing talent. Entries were of a very high standard and it was wonderful to be 
able to encourage local writers to continue with their work. BookFest 
recommends that in 2016/17 the prize is opened up to anyone who lives, works 
or studies in the city or can demonstrate a close personal connection to the city. 
This is to enable more people to take part who feel they identify with the city. 
There was some email feedback that the competition should be open to people 
who work in Portsmouth and also people who have grown up in the city but 
since moved away, so opening up the competition in this way is making it more 
accessible whilst at the same time ensuring it remains very much about 
Portsmouth. 

 
4.4           In order to provide an online ticketing service, which was much requested by 

authors and audiences in previous years, BookFest has used an online ticketing 
company, Eventbrite, for the last two festivals. This service has provided an 
accessible, smooth ticket solution, helping to increase sales by providing access 
to ticket purchases 24/7 and it is essential that BookFest continues to offer an 
online service to stimulate ticket sales. Naturally, being a business, fees are 
charged on ticket income where tickets have a charge on Eventbrite. This 
means that BookFest is unable to make as much profit in ticket income to cover 
the costs of events. In 2015 Eventbrite's ticket fees were increased meaning that 
for every ticket sale with a charge, a fee of 99p plus 2.5% were deducted. In 
many cases another 2.5% was also deducted if Eventbrite's payment processing 
of card payments was used. Deducting another 20% for VAT on ticket prices 
makes it hard for BookFest to meet its event costs. For 2017 BookFest hopes to 
be able to use an online ticketing system built in to the updated version of the 
Library Management System Civica Spydus which will mean that ticket sales do 
not generate extra fees.  

 
 
 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

5. Equality impact assessment (EIA) 
 
5.1 A preliminary EIA has been completed and this is attached as an appendix to 
                the report 
 
6. Legal comments 
 
6.1 A full EIA would be recommended to ensure compliance. 
 
7. Director of Finance comments 
 
7.1 The final outturn for this event was a small deficit of £206.   
 
7.2 The charges incurred through the use of the Eventbrite online ticketing service 

had a significant impact on the income received as the 99p charge per ticket and 
the 2.5% handling charge made up a large proportion of the lower value ticket 
income.  The implementation of an in house system for next year's event and 
the associated saving in costs will ensure that income is maximised. 

 
7.3 The Portsmouth Short Story competition was run in order to promote the 

BookFest event and local writing talent.  The support for this and the prize of 
£500 was and will continue to be funded through existing library budgets. 

 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Stephen Baily 
Director of Culture and City Development 
 
 
Appendices:     Appendix A:  BookFest  programme leaflet 2016 
       Appendix B:  Equality Impact Assessment   
 
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

  

 
 
 
 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Councillor Linda Symes 
Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure and Sport 





6

www.portsmouthbookfest.co.uk 

http://portsmouthbookfest16.eventbrite.co.uk



Welcome
Welcome to Portsmouth 
BookFest 2016, a book 
festival now in its sixth 
year, with something to 
appeal to everyone.
The festival is organised by a partnership between 
Portsmouth City Council and The Hayling Island 
Bookshop. Previous festivals have been a great 
success with residents from Portsmouth and 
further afield taking the opportunity to meet 
some of the most exciting authors in the UK. 

As well as presenting famous authors BookFest 
is also proud to support local talent and this 
year we are again pleased to be working in 
partnership with local organisations and the 
many talented local authors in the city, including 
Portsmouth Writers' Hub. 

At most events there will be an opportunity to 
buy books and have them signed by the author 
and at CSI Portsmouth ticket holders will be able 
to use their tickets to get a discount off a book 
bought at the event.

Tickets: portsmouthbookfest16.eventbrite.co.uk 
Website: portsmouthbookfest.co.uk

 /Portsmouth Libraries 
 @PompeyBookFest and @CSIPortsmouth



How to book
Tickets will be on sale from 
Monday 4th January 2016

Online via EventBrite at:  
http://portsmouthbookfest16.eventbrite.co.uk

Telephone the Box Office on 023 9268 8037, 
Monday to Friday 9am–5pm. Tickets can be 
emailed, sent to your chosen Portsmouth Library 
to collect, posted to an address or collected on 
the door. Please note that if you pay by credit 
card on the telephone a 1.9% fee of the total 
card payment will be charged to you (no charge 
for debit cards). 

Tickets can be reserved and paid for in all 
Portsmouth Libraries and you can opt to collect 
your tickets from your chosen library, posted to an 
address or on the door.  Tickets can be purchased 
with credit/debit card at the box office and online 
or with cash in all libraries.

BookFest for Schools
BookFest 2016 once again brings some of the 
best writers for young people in the UK into 
Portsmouth schools – guaranteed inspiration 
and fun!

Our programme is designed to support literacy 
and to provide some of the “wow” which will 
help turn children into enthusiastic readers. 

Portsmouth BookFest 2016 sees visits from Guy 
Bass, Sarah Lean and Emily Gravett.



The Valentines Day 
Massacre with Portsmouth 
Writers' Hub
Venue: Upstairs at the Wave Maiden,  
36 Osborne Road, Southsea P05 3LT 
6:00 pm • £6.00

What kind of Valentine are you? Candlelit dinner, 
roses and romance? Or New York chili, cask ales 
and acrimonious anecdotes?

Share an evening of vitriol, vengeance and 
weissbier with the talented writers and musicians 
of Portsmouth Writers Hub who brought you Day 
of the Dead. Beer & food available at the bar.

Travel Writing: Thri lls, 
Spills, Risks & Rewards
Venue: Screening Theatre EW1.10, University of 
Portsmouth, Eldon Building, Winston Churchill 
Avenue, Portsmouth, PO1 2DJ

6:00 pm • FREE (please book in advance)

What makes for good travel writing? How do you 
get into the profession? What practical, ethical and 
political challenges come with the job? Who are 
the great travel writers and what can we learn from 
them? Can an outsider ever fairly and accurately 
represent a given place, society or culture?

University of Portsmouth lecturer, travel book 
author and foreign affairs journalist Tom Sykes 
and writer-photographer Alexander Sebley explore 

14
feb

15
feb



Gruffalo Tea Party
£2.00 per child (includes a cup of squash 
and a slice of Gruffalo crumble)

(Only children require tickets - accompanying adults can attend for 
free. Tickets can only be bought in the hosting library) 

Tuesday 16 February 
Southsea Library   10:00 am 
Beddow Library   1:00 pm 
Alderman Lacey Library  3:30 pm

Wednesday 17 February 
Carnegie Library    10:00 am 
Portsea Library     1:00 pm 
Central Library     3:30 pm

Thursday 18 February 
Paulsgrove Library  10:30 am 
Cosham Library    1:00 pm 
North End Library    3:30 pm

Back by popular demand, the 
Gruffalo will be visiting all 
library branches at this year's 
BookFest! Join him for stories 
and Gruffalo crumble. 

16
17 
18 
feb

these questions and more, with reference to their 
travels across four continents and their recent 
collaboration on the upcoming Bradt Guidebook 
to Ivory Coast. They also offer practical advice on 
the craft and explore the various sub-genres of 
travel writing from guidebooks to service articles 
to narrative travelogues.



Closure
Featuring Lynne E. Blackwood,  
Sylvia Dickinson, Patrice Lawrence, 
Karen Onojaife

Venue:  Menuhin Theatre,  
Portsmouth Central Library

7:00 pm • £5.00 (with tea/coffee)

Join BookFest for an evening of readings from 
Closure. Featuring local writers, Lynne and Sylvia 
and internationally published book authors. 
Closure (Peepal Tree Press) is the first Black British 
short story anthology since IC3 (2000). "Where 
IC3 voiced a burning for self definition, Closure 
takes Black Britishness as read – a lived reality 
that is like air or breath or blood - says award 
winning author Jacob Ross, editor of Closure, 
in the introduction, who will be chairing one 
of the anthology’s main events - readings from 
contributors, a Q&A as well as a discussion 
around writing and editing short stories

Developed by Series Editor Kadija Sesay, Closure 
follows Red: Contemporary Black British Poetry 
in showcasing the diversity of literature by 
British writers of African and Asian descent. 
The anthology itself emerges from Peepal Tree's 
Inscribe programme – both a professional 
development scheme for writers, supported by 
Arts Council England, and a publishing imprint 
highlighting new British talent.

Closure has a variety of forms, styles 
and a rich diversity of theme, filled 
with stories which, like life, rarely end 
in the way we might expect...

20
feb



This Island City: 
Portsmouth in poetry
Venue:  Square Tower
7:30 pm • £4.00 
(on the door only - tickets cannot be bought on the  
BookFest website)

Join us in a celebration of Portsmouth’s literary 
heritage. This Island City is an anthology of poetry 
which brings the city to life, showing its character 
and its people, revealing its scars of war and 
poverty as well as its beauty.  

The event will include readings from Portsmouth 
people who have contributed to the anthology, 
along with national and local poets. 

Live music with Janet Ayers and friends. 

Bar and free nearby parking

www.tonguesandgrooves.com

Played up Pompey  
with Neil Allen
Venue:  Carnegie Library, Fratton
2:00 pm • £5.00 
Join Chief Sports writer for the News, Neil Allen, 
as he talks about his interest in Portsmouth 
Football Club, what prompted him to write Played 
Up Pompey and how he went about publishing 
his book. 

Former Pompey goalkeeper Alan Knight will 
also attend as Alan is one of 24 interviews Neil 
carried out with former Blues players who remain 
eternally popular among the Fratton faithful.

21
feb

21
feb



Portsmouth:  
The home of great writing
A public lecture with  
Matt Wingett, local author

Venue:  Portsmouth Central Library
7:00 pm • FREE please book a place

Four of the 19th Century's most popular novelists 
– Dickens, Conan Doyle, Wells and Kipling – 
have Portsmouth connections. There are also 
many other excellent writers who have strong 
Portsmouth connections. In this lecture local 
author, Matt Wingett, explores what is so special 
for writers about Pompey. 

As well as the "greats", Matt Wingett explores 
the influence of the town on writers such as 
Walter Besant, Lake Allen, Robert Dolling, Captain 
Marryat and many others, tracing the history of 
writing in the town, asking the questions "what 
did Portsmouth give these writers, and how did it 
affect their writing?"

22
feb

New Habits  
with Eleanor Stewart
Venue: Portsmouth Central Library
7:00 pm • £5.00

Eleanor's latest book covers her 
exciting, but often traumatic, 
adaptation to life after the 
convent, including marriage and 
the adoption of two children. 
Join Eleanor for a fascinating and 
entertaining evening. 

24
feb



The Portsmouth Writer's  
Hub presents an evening 
with Adele Parks

Hobby, Vocation or Career?  
Your Life as a Writer

Venue:  Menuhin Theatre's cosy café,  
Portsmouth Central Library

6:30 pm • £10.00/£5.00 concessions 
Writers' Hub members and guests see website

The multi-million bestselling author Adele Parks 
will present a fun and honest talk on how to 
achieve a long career as a writer.

Adele has published 15 novels in 15 years, all 
of which have hit the bestseller list. She writes 
contemporary and historical fiction exploring 
themes such as family, love, parenting and fidelity 
with an emphasis on honesty and humour. 

She has been a judge on the Costa Book Awards 
and will talk about the longevity of a career as 
a writer. Whether writing 
is your hobby, your career 
or your vocation, join us 
to celebrate Portsmouth 
Bookfest on this chilly 
February evening.

Tickets for this event 
can only be purchased 
at www.newwritingsouth.
com/whatson

25
feb



Self-publishing  
with Pentangle Press
Venue: Third Floor, Portsmouth Central Library
11:00 am • £3.00

Carol Westron, Christine Hammacott and  
Wendy Metcalfe are Pentangle Press, a local, 
self-publishing co-operative. Three years ago they 
decided to combine their skills, in the belief that 
this would bring more success than publishing 
individually. 

In this talk they will discuss the advantages and 
disadvantages of being an Indie author and the 
doors that have opened for them by having their 
books out in the world. They will explain why 
they made certain publishing decisions regarding 
printing and promoting, paperback or e-book. 
They will also talk about the separate processes 
that the author has to go through after the book 
is written in order to prepare it for publication. 
These include copy editing, line editing, branding, 
lay-out, cover design, the back blurb and pricing 
the book. 

There are then the fresh challenges of promotion: 
website, Facebook, Twitter, blogging, book 
signings, panels and other public appearances; 
every author has different strengths but it is useful 
to know the options. There will be opportunities 
for audience questions and discussion. 

27
feb



Afternoon Tea  
with Lottie Moggach
Venue: Third Floor, Portsmouth Central Library
2:00 pm • £6.00 (includes tea and cake)

Lottie Moggach won the Portsmouth First 
Fiction Award in 2014 after judges and reading 
groups voted her debut novel Kiss Me First as an 
outstanding tale of the internet age. 

Lottie beat strong competition and her novel has 
been rated in the press as 'A dark psychological 
thriller... an engaging and suspenseful look at 
the subtle perils the web presents to the human 
condition.' (Financial Times). 

Daughter of acclaimed author Deborah Moggach 
(Best Exotic Marigold Hotel) Lottie is clearly 
following in her mother's footsteps. Join us for 
afternoon tea with Lottie to catch up on how she 
wrote the novel, her inspirations and what's next 
for this talented author.

27
feb

Words That Move
Venue: Portsmouth Central Library
3:30 pm • FREE no ticket required

Set in the stillness of the library NTR Dancers 
dance to a score of poems by Portsmouth Poet 
Laureate, Sam Cox's 'Timeless Tides' read by NTR 
Players.

Directed by Bernie C Byrnes and produced by Nic 
Williams, Words That Move premièred as part of 
the New Theatre Royal's 'Found Hour' in October.

01
mar



Book launch:  
Conan Doyle and the 
Mysterious World of Light
Venue: Esther Room, Portsmouth City Museum
7:00 pm • FREE please book a place

In 1887, while living in Southsea, Sir Arthur 
Conan Doyle reported in the occult magazine 
Light that he was convinced of Spiritualism's 
truth. Nearly 30 years later he came out in public 
to announce that the New Revelation had arrived 
to bring solace to a population shocked by the 
devastation of the Great War. 

In his book Conan Doyle and the Mysterious 
World of Light, Portsmouth-based author  
Matt Wingett has used articles written by  
Conan Doyle in Light, many of which have 
never been republished, to trace Conan Doyle's 
spiritualist career, from his low-key announcement 
of his faith, to becoming the de facto leader of a 
world movement. 

Covering the years from 1887 to 1920, Matt asks 
how the man so renowned for his ultra-rational 
character Sherlock Holmes came to believe in 
ghosts, and even fairies? 

With readings from his new book and discussions 
of Doyle's interest in all things enigmatic and 
mysterious.

01
mar



Viv Albertine:  
Clothes, Music, Boys
Venue: Pie and Vinyl
7:00 pm • £12.00 (Including a paperback copy of Viv's book, 

standing tickets only)

Songwriter and musician Viv Albertine was the 
guitarist in the hugely influential female punk 
band The Slits. A confidante of the Sex Pistols  
and the Clash, Viv was a key player in British  
punk culture. 

Alongside The Slits, she collaborated with numerous 
musicians, including Adrian Sherwood, before 
marking out a career in television and film 
production. 

After a hiatus of twenty five years, Viv's first solo 
album, The Vermillion Border, was released in 
2012 to great critical acclaim. Her recent memoir 
Clothes, Music, Boys was the Rough Trade book 
of the year for 2014: A raw, 
thrilling story of life on 
the frontiers and a candid 
account of Viv's life post-
punk, taking in a career 
in film, the pain of IVF, 
illness and divorce and the 
triumph of making music 
again, Clothes, Music, Boys 
is a remarkable memoir.  
Viv will be talking about 
her life at Pie and Vinyl.

01
mar



The importance of reading

With John Attrill, Honorary Alderman 
and Portsmouth City Council's 
Learning Disability Champion

Venue: Third Floor, Portsmouth Central Library
2:00 pm • FREE please book a place 

John will be sharing his own stories and 
observations on the importance of reading...

"Reading is the most important to me as I was 
not able to read before I was ten years of age.
Being able to read enhances one's knowledge of 
the world. 

Many people in Portsmouth, the city that gave 
us Charles Dickens, seems to me have not found 
the pleasure of reading which does give me 
some concern. Reading and the value of books 
is of great importance as much as engaging in 
sporting activities such as football. 

Many people with learning disabilities can read, 
however they find reading boring. Reading 
and the value of books must be made more 
interesting."

03
mar



The blanket book 

With Elizabeth Caush

Venue: Beddow Library
7:00 pm • £2.00 

All proceeds will go to the Friends of Beddow Library.  
Tickets only available from Beddow Library.

The idea behind this book is to look at the 
practical and therapeutic nature of knitting by 
providing simple patterns that beginner knitters 
can follow, and also to suggest some ideas for 
setting up a knitting group and making larger 
projects together. The patterns are all based on a 
simple square shape and nearly all of them start 
with one stitch.

03
mar

A history of  
Gunwharf Quays 

With Michael Underwood

Venue:  Portsmouth History Centre,  
Portsmouth Central Library

7:00 pm • £5.00 

Gunwharf Quays used to have a very different 
purpose from the popular food, culture and retail 
outlet it now is. You can still see evidence of its 
naval past in the many beautiful buildings such as 
the Old Customs House and the Vulcan Building. 
Michael Underwood's fascinating book takes us 
into the areas past and its development into the 

03
mar



Rudyard Kipling: 
Child of the Wild
Venue: Southsea Library
7:00 pm • FREE please book a place

Whilst Rudyard Kipling is arguably most famous 
for his children's stories in The Jungle Book, many 
of his other works contain themes that echo his 
childhood growing up in Portsmouth.

In his autobiographical Something of Myself, 
Kipling relates the brutality of his childhood 
in Portsmouth, separated from his parents. 
Repeatedly, in works such as Captains 
Courageous and Kim one encounters tales 
of a young boy isolated from family facing a 
hostile environment alone and overcoming deep 
adversity and cruelty. Captain's Courageous is 
even set in a maritime setting. Characters along 
the way seem to echo the real life characters 
Something of Myself, including Baloo, Sheer Khan 
and Kaa from the Jungle Book, and Manuel from 
Captains Courageous. 

This series of readings from different works by 
Kipling explores the interconnections between 
his admittedly brutal life in Portsmouth, and how 
perhaps, in facing childhood adversity, he became 
a writer of global importance.

04
mar



Performance poetry event
Venue: Southsea Coffee
5:00 pm • FREE no ticket required

Portsmouth Poet Laureate Sam Cox and  
James Tattington (Fugitive Orchestra) offer an 
exciting collaboration of original poetry, spoken 
word and music.

Special opening of  
the Charles Dickens 
Birthplace Museum
Venue: Dickens Birthplace Museum
10:00 am – 5:00 pm • FREE no ticket required

To celebrate BookFest the museum will have a 
free special opening day.

05
mar

05
mar



CSI Portsmouth 2016
Venue: Pyramids Centre, Southsea 
10:00 am - 4:00 pm (doors open at 9:45 am) 

£15.00 (includes £3 off a book bought at the event)

Including crime authors Diana Bretherick,  
Elly Griffiths, J.S Law, Pauline Rowson  
and William Sutton. 

Join a stellar line up of some of Britain's best 
loved crime authors, along with a fascinating 
range of experts from Hampshire Police. Their 
specialisms include forensic entomology, counter 
terrorism, footwear examination, cyber-crime and 
drug related crime.

05
mar



10:00 am to 12:00 noon
Join award-winning crime writer Elly Griffiths, 
author of the series featuring forensic 
archaeologist Dr Ruth Galloway and Pauline 
Rowson, author of the popular DI Andy Horton 
crime novels set in the Solent area, along with 
crime experts Simon Mound, a crime scene 
investigator with Hampshire Police’s Scientific 
Services Department with expertise in the 
recovery of firearms and the examination of 
firearm related crime scenes and Jonathan 
Smith, a forensic scientist with expertise in the 
examination of blood and body fluids, hairs, 
fibres, botany and wood fragment identification 
and adviser to many UK police forces.  

2:00 pm to 4:00 pm
Join Will Sutton, a musician, playwright and 
author of historical mysteries in Victorian London 
who will quiz crime authors Diana Bretherick, a 
former criminal barrister and now a lecturer in 
criminology and criminal justice at the University 
of Portsmouth and J.S Law, a former Royal Navy 
officer, on crime writing fact and fiction.

The Hampshire Police Fingerprint Bureau and a 
mock up crime scene provided by the Forensic 
Science Course at South Downs College will also 
be available, as well as the bookshop provided by 
Hayling Island Bookshop.



Local Authors 
in Southsea 
Library
Come along, meet the author and 
buy a book - no ticket required!

All events 12:00 noon to 3:00 pm

Gabby Aquilina
Gabrielle Aquilina is a best-selling 
contemporary romance writer, and her debut 
novel was published by So Vain Books in May 2015.

'How To Catch A (Rock) Star’ is an emotionally-
charged, unique love story about aspiring British 
singer Lillie and American rock-star Jed. Lillie 
joins Jed’s band as they tour the UK, Europe and 
America, and the two fast become rock’s hottest 
couple. But with a claustrophobic tour bus and a 
resentful guitarist, things start taking a turn for 
the worse. The odds are stacking up against them 
and then the unthinkable happens...

19
feb

Dr Asim Dasgupta
Dr Asim K. Dasgupta is a writer and travel 
photographer. He will exhibit as well as sell copies of 
books and photographs which show his fascinating 
travels around the world.  
www.drasimkrdasgupta.com

23
feb



Dawn Nelson
D S Nelson is a local writer and author of the Blake 
Hetherington Mysteries. Her influences include 
Agatha Christie, Josephine Tey, Arthur Conan Doyle, 
Simon Brett and Peter Robinson. Come and say 
hi, chat about detective fiction and meet mystery 
milliner Blake Hetherington.

Jane Cable
How can a memory so vivid be wrong? 

Set on the banks of the River Hamble, award 
winning author Jane Cable's The Faerie Tree is 
a Hampshire novel through and 
through. When Izzie and Robin meet 
again twenty years after their brief 
affair they discover their memories of 
it are completely different; but how 
can this be – and which one of them 
is right?

Lynne Stretch
Lynne (writing name Alyson Young) will be selling 
copies of her recently completed novel Miskin Girl. 
Lynne is an ex Portsmouth University student and 
her final dissertation was to write a book for the 
teenage market. The book is now printed and she 
is selling it for £8 with ALL royalties going to the 
teenage cancer trust.

26
feb

27
feb

05
mar



“Historical 
crime with real 
originality and 

narrative energy.”  
BBC History 
Magazine

Watch out for. . .

“Extravagant  
and thoroughly 

enjoyable”  
The Scotsman



Watch out for. . .
Murder at the Theatre

Crime Writing Workshops  
Tuesday April 26, May 3, 10,  
17 & 24

Venue: New Theatre Royal 
6:30 pm - 8:30 pm 

£10.00/£5.00 concessions newtheatreroyal.com 

After Bookfest, Portsmouth’s own crime 
novelists Diana Bretherick and William Sutton, 
offer a series of five workshops to help you 
develop your own mystery, thriller or detective 
story. Both writers appear at CSI Portsmouth 
at Bookfest 2016 and in collection Portsmouth 
Fairy Tales.

Workshops cover beginning, ideas, characters, 
plotting, settings, endgames.

Diana is a lawyer and criminologist. City of 
Devils won Good Housekeeping Magazine’s 
first novel competition. Sequel The Devil’s 
Daughters came out in October. 

William’s debut Lawless and the Devil of 
Euston Square was republished in November. 
Lawless and the Flowers of Sin will follow 
in summer 2016. 



M27

M275

A27

North End Library

Alderman Lacey Library

Cosham Library
Paulsgrove Library

Carnegie Library

Beddow Library

City Museum

Pie & Vinyl

Southsea Library

Pyramids Centre

Historic Dockyard

Central Library Fratton Park

Square Tower

©
 C

ro
w

n 
C

op
yr

ig
ht

 a
nd

 d
at

ab
as

e 
rig

ht
 2

01
3.

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
Su

rv
ey

 li
ce

nc
e 

nu
m

be
r 

10
00

19
67

1.

Cosham Library 
Spur Road, Cosham 
PO1 5EZ

Eldon Building 
Winston Churchill Avenue, 
Portsmouth, PO1 2DJ

Menuhin Theatre, 
Portsmouth Central Library 
Guildhall Square, Portsmouth, 
PO1 2DX

North End Library 
Gladys Avenue, Portsmouth, 
PO2 9AX 

Portsmouth Central Library 
Guildhall Square, Portsmouth, 
PO1 2DX

Pyramids Centre 
Clarence Esplanade, Portsmouth 
PO5 3ST

Southsea Library 
19-21 Palmerston Road, 
Southsea, PO5 3QQ

Square Tower 
Broad Street, Portsmouth,  
PO1 2JE

Venue guide and map



Equality Impact assessment
www.portsmouth.gov.uk� � � � � � � � � � � 	 � 
 � � � 	 � � 	   �   � � � � �  	 � � � � � 	 � � � 	  
  � � � � � � � � � � � � �   � � �  � � � � � �� � � � � � � 
 � � �  � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � �  �  � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � �  � �  � � 	 � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � 
� � � � � � � 	 � �� � � 	 � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � 	 � 
 � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � � 	 � 	 � � � � � � 	 � �� � � � � � � �  � � � 	 � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� �  � � � 
 � � 	  � �  � � � � � 
 	 � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �   � � � 	 � 
 ! � � � � � � � " � � � � � �

# � � �  � � � � � $ � � � % �  �

� & �  � � � �
★ ' � � � � � � � �  � �" � 	 � � � �



� � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � & �  � � � � � � � # � � �  � � � � � $ � � � % �  � 	 � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
# � � �  � � � � � $ � � � % �  � ( �   � � �  � 	 � � � � � � � � � ) * + ) 	 � � � � 
 � � � �, - � � � � � � � � � # � � �  � � � � � 	  � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � 	  � � � 	 � � � �  � � � � � �� � � 	 � � � � � � �  .� � �  � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � 
 �/ 0 �  � � � � � 	   	 � � � 	 � � � � � �  � � � � � 	 � � # � � �  � � � � � � � 	 � � �  	 � � � �  � � � �  � � � � 	 � � � � �  	 � �  � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � 	  � � � � �  � � � � � 	 � � � �/ � 	 � � � � � � � � � � �  	 � � � � 	 � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � 
 �/ � � � � � 	  � � � �  � � � � � � � 	 � � �  �/ ! � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � 
 � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � 
 	  	 � �  � � � 	 � � � � �/ 1  � � � 	 � � � � � 	 � � � � � 	 � � �   � � � � � � � � �  	 � � �   � � � � � � 
 �

� � �
★- �  	 � � � � � 

★2 	 � �
★3 � � � � �
★� � 	 �  � � � � � �
★! � & � 	 � � � � � � � 	 � � � �
★2 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
★



# � � � � 	 � � 
 	 � � � 	 � � � � � � 

★4 � � � � � & � � � � � � � � � � � 
★

� � �
★- �  	 � � � � � 

★2 	 � �
★3 � � � � �
★� � 	 �  � � � � � �
★! � & � 	 � � � � � � � 	 � � � �
★2 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
★# � � � � 	 � � 
 � � � 	 � � � � � � 

★4 � � � � � & � � � � � � � � � � � 
★

� � �
★- �  	 � � � � � 

★2 	 � �
★3 � � � � �
★



� � 	 �  � � � � � �
★! � & � 	 � � � � � � � 	 � � � �
★2 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
★# � � � � 	 � � 
 	 � � � 	 � � � � � � 

★4 � � � � � & � � � � � � � � � � � 
★


 �  ' �
★$ � � � % �  � � � � � � � �  � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 	 � � � � �  � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � 
 � � � � �  � 	 � � � � �  	 � � � � 	 � � � �� 	 � � � � � � � � � �  	 � � � � 	 � � � � � 	  � �  � 5 � � � � � � � �  	 � � � � 	 � � � � � � � 
 	 � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � 	 � �  � � � � �% �  � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � 	 � 	 � � �   � � � � � � � � � � 5 � �  � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � $ � � � % �  � � � 	 � � 	 � � � � � � � �  	 � � 	 � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 5 � 	 �  � � � � �� � � � 	 � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � �  � � 	 � � � � � �  �� � 
 � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � 	  � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � �  	 � � � � � � �  � � 
 � � 	 � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � * ) 6 7 ) 8 6 9 : 8 7 � � � � 	 � � � � � � 	 � � � � �  ; � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � �" � 	 � � % � �  
 � � � ! � � � � � � - � � � � � � � � � � ( 	 � 	 � � � �

 � � � 
 � � � � � � �* ) 6 7 ) < 8 8 * = 8* 9 � * : � + <



# � � 	  � � � 	 � � 	 � � � 
 � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � 
 	 � � � � � � �  � � 
 � � 	 � � 5 � � � � � � � � � 	 � � 
 � � � � � �	 � 
 � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � �  	 � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � 
 � � � �� � � � � � � � � � * ) 6 7 ) 8 6 9 : 8 7� � 	 � � � � � � 	 � � � � �  ; � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � �





  

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

  
 
 
Title of meeting: 
 

 
 
Culture Leisure and Sport Decision Meeting 

Date of meeting: 
 

15 July 2016 

Subject: 
 

Libraries and Archives Annual Update Report 2016/17 

Report by: 
 

Director of Culture and City Development 
 

Wards affected: 
 

All 

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council 
decision: 

No 

 

 
1. Purpose of report  

 
1.1 To update and inform the Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure and Sport of the 

work carried out by the Portsmouth Library and Archive Services in the last twelve 
months, i.e. 2015/16.  

 
1.2 To update on the activities undertaken to address the recommendations for action 

agreed in the 2015 Libraries and Archives Update Report. 
 
1.3 To make recommendations for additional actions to be undertaken in Portsmouth 

Libraries and Archives in line with the Business Plan for the period 2016/17 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1  That the updates to the agreed actions from the Portsmouth Libraries and 

Archives Annual Update Report 2014/15, shown at 3 be noted. 
 
2.2 That  the following actions and activities at 2.2 .1 - 9 be carried forward from 

the 2015/16 Portsmouth Libraries Update Report to be delivered or continued 
in 2016/17: 

 
2.2.1   Deliver annual budget savings (2016/17). 

 
2.2.2 Increase volunteer hours with the Library and Archive Services by 5% 

annually 
 
2.2.3 Develop and agree a policy for the identification, safe storage and 

management of "Born Digital" archive for Portsmouth. 
 



  

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

2.2.4 Continue to develop the health and wellbeing library offer including library 
engagement with Macmillan Cancer Support, development of dementia 
collections, vision impaired services and Books on Prescription. 

 
2.2.5  Exploration of a separate Archive Photographic Store 
 
2.2.6 Explore the refurbishment of Cosham Library within existing budgets. 
 
2.2.7 Continue to develop and support the Friends Group programme at libraries 

across the city. 
 
2.2.8 Explore the delivery of current archive photographic records, on-line to 

improve public access. 
 
2.2.9  Continue the delivery and development of the following annual events: 

 

 BookFest Book Festival 

 Portsmouth History Fair/Archives Week event 

 Summer Reading Challenge 

 Portsmouth Book Awards for Picture Books, Shorter Novel and Longer 
Novel 

 Portsmouth Literature Quizzes 
 
2.3 The following recommendations be added to the Library Business Plan for 

the forthcoming year 2016/17: 
 
2.3.1 Make the following changes to the Library Management System: 
 
2.3.1.1 Transfer from the PCC server to "hosting" on the Civica/Spydus  server 
2.3.1.2 Upgrade from Spydus 8 to Spydus 10 
2.3.1.3 Upload the Archive catalogue to Spydus 10 and develop web access 

 
2.3.2 Publication of two Portsmouth Papers with "print on demand" options 
 
2.3.3 Delivery of digital archives project with procured external provider. 
 
2.3.4  Embed Portsmouth Short Story competition as an annual BookFest element. 

 
2.3.5 Development of staff training days with embedded use of "Learning 
 Pool" modules developed by SCL. 
 
2.3.6  Explore funding bids to develop subject "sites" in information stock 
 
2.3.7 Move the key communication model, with library members to email, with 
 charges at cost for postal communication from April 2017 
 
2.3.8 Deliver activities and events to commemorate the 40th birthday of the Central  
 Library and the 5th birthday of Southsea Library 
 
 



  

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

3. Background 
  
3.1 To ensure the consistency and quality of the public library offer across the UK, the 

Society of Chief Librarians (SCL) has worked with Arts Council England, the 
Reading Agency and  regional SCL members to develop and agree 5 universal 
offers and two promises, which inform the work of all public libraries. The Universal 
Offers are: 
 

 Reading  

 Information  

 Digital  

 Health and Wellbeing 

 Learning 
 

            3.1.1 The two promises embed levels of support and expectation in the following areas: 

 Children's Promise 

 Six Steps (Vision Impairment) 
 
3.1.2 In respect of the Archive Service, the priorities and aims identified by National 
 Archives, are access to records for all, security and conservation.  
 
3.1.3 These offers, priorities and promises sit alongside the PCC and Culture and City 
 Development Business Plan in determining the Libraries and Archives operational 
 priorities.  
 
3.1.4 Below, are brief update reports on the works completed and the activities 
 undertaken for each of the agreed recommendations for action from the 2015/16 
 Libraries and Archives Annual Update Report. 

 
3.2 That Arts Council England Capital Funding be sought to develop the Central 
 Library Administration block as a Literature Centre and IT Learning Zone. 
 Update: This has not been undertaken in this financial year due to lack of clarity 
 over the long term use of the space. Currently, parts of the area are separately 
 being  occupied by the Unison and Unite Unions and this is expected to be of 6 
 month duration, allowing other plans to now be developed for 2017. 
 
3.3 Develop a digital "front end” for the archive and local history catalogue 

entries to improve access to the records by the public. 
 Update: The first stage in this process is to move the catalogue entries to a digital 
 platform where they can be accessed on-line. In the next 12 months this will be 
 achieved in two ways. The transfer of the archive catalogue records to Spydus 10 
 where they can sit alongside the library catalogue. Also, the digitisation of archive 
 records including church registers, rate books and crew lists by a commercial 
 heritage site - see 3.12  
 
3.4 Continue to develop the health and wellbeing library offer including library 

engagement with Macmillan Cancer Support, development of dementia 
collections, vision impaired services and Books on Prescription. 

 Update: In the past year, Dementia Collections and "Shelf Help" Books on 
Prescription for children and young adults have been successfully launched. 



  

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Weekday and Weekend library teams have received health and wellbeing training. 
For the second time, Portsmouth Vision Impaired services were shortlisted for the 
national "Libraries Change Lives Award" Macmillan Cancer Support confirmed that 
our project with them was exceeding its targets by May 2016. 

 
3.5 Increase volunteer hours with the Library and Archive Services by 5% 
 annually 

Update: The total volunteering hours and numbers of volunteers in libraries and 
Archives 2015/16  have been totalled as follows: 
16,388.5 hours undertaken by 292 volunteers.      
That is a 32% increase in hours volunteered on last year and a 70% increase in the 
number of volunteers. This far exceeds the 5% target. 
This represents the equivalent of   8.5 FTE staff hours which in financial terms has 
a value to the City Council of: £213,050.50 

 
3.6 Continue the delivery and development of the following annual events: 

 

 BookFest Book Festival 
Update: This is the subject of a separate report to Culture, Leisure and 
Sport, to be taken July 2016. The headline information is that the festival 
doubled attendance from last year's event. There have been difficulties 
reported with the on-line booking system which have created a budget 
pressure for the event. It is anticipated that these will be resolved through the 
use of the Spydus 10 booking module. See 4.9.1 
 

 Portsmouth History Fair 
Update: The History Centre Team elected to take advantage of the national 
publicity associated with "Explore Your Archive Week" replacing the History 
Fair. This provided a platform for a range of talks and exhibitions which were 
well received and attended 
 

 Summer Reading Challenge 
Update: 2015 was another successful year with 2,700 participants, who 
engaged in reading activities through the summer. The most successful 
libraries were North End closely followed by Southsea. The event concluded 
with the winner's event in Southsea Castle in September. This annual, 
nationally promoted, scheme can benefit from national publicity and an 
engaging website, providing further activities and links. The key aim of the 
initiative is to encourage children to maintain and expand their reading 
through the long summer holiday, avoiding the reading age dip which can 
occur.  
 

 Portsmouth Book Awards for Picture Books, Shorter Novel and Longer 
Novel 
 Update: in total over 3,200 pupils at key stage (KS) 1, 5 and 8/9 participated 
 in the awards which develop and support literacy, reading for pleasure and 
 reader development. In each case the awards are "owned" by the pupils who 
 are the only judges of the respective shortlists. All winning authors were able 
 to attend their respective award ceremonies, providing pupils with direct 
 access to published writers and the creative process. 



  

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
3.7 Deliver 2015/16 budget savings. 
 Update: The budget savings were achieved through the acceptance of voluntary 
 redundancies as part of the VR offer made by Portsmouth City Council . . In 
 order to rebalance the staff structure 12 members of frontline staff moved to a 
 different base library, but this was consistent with contracts, as all staff are 
 appointed to the city rather than a specific location. A senior manager undertook a 
 split post delivering strategic management for the Schools Library Service and 
 outreach services. This was required to cover a senior VR acceptance. 

 
3.8 Apply for and achieve Archive Accreditation with National Archives 
 Update: The papers and application were submitted in March 2016 and the 
 accompanying visit by representatives from National Archives took place on 17 
 May. Following this additional papers were requested and supplied. Monitoring of 
 the temperature and humidity readings is also ongoing by National Archives. The 
 outcome of the application should be known late June or early July 2016 
 
3.9 Develop and deliver the Portsmouth Short Story competition as part of the 
 BookFest Book Festival 

Update: The competition was limited to residents living in PO1 - 6. 21 entries were 
received on the subject of "Portsmouth". Of these 6 were shortlisted and a winner 
agreed by a panel including a local published author, newspaper editor and the 
Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure and Sport. The winner was announced at the 
launch event for Bookfest 2016. This was evaluated as a successful model 
encouraging creative writing with a focus on the city. It is recommended that this is 
carried forward to future years. 

 
3.10 Explore the delivery of current archive photographic records, on-line to 
 improve public access. 

Update: This work stream has not been delivered in this financial year due to 
priority being given to the activities identified at 3.7 and 3.10. To be successful, this  
work will require an on-line accessible catalogue and cannot be developed  until the 
transfer to Spydus 10 are in place (action identified at 2.3.1)This work stream will be 
carried forward to 2016/17. 

 
3.11 Explore options and undertake procurement activity with on-line genealogical 

 subscription sites to deliver digitisation and access to specified elements of 
 the Portsmouth Archive record.  

 Update: A procurement process has identified a preferred bidder.  Subject to 
 contract they will begin the digitisation process and indexing by autumn 2016. There 
 will be modest opportunities for income generation, in subsequent years in payment 
 for Portsmouth entries being accessed on the provider's subscription site. The 
 process will significantly move forward  the digitisation process for the City Archive 
 and enable local residents and individuals from across the globe to access the 
 records, significantly enhancing the visibility of the service. 

 
3.12 Review the Mobile Library service offer and timetable 
 Update: This review was undertaken in August 2015 and the current Mobile 
 timetable confirmed. Additional work was undertaken by the Mobile, summer 



  

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 2015, attending Commercial Road on Saturdays in August and three different 
 seafront locations, on multiple occasions during July and August 2015. 
 
3.13    Develop and agree a policy for the identification, safe storage and 

 management of "Born Digital" archive for Portsmouth. 
 Update: This is anticipated to be a 5 year work stream and considerable progress 
 has been made in year one. Working with the PCC Modern Records Manager, a 
 survey has been undertaken to understand the current state of PCC "Born Digital" 
 holdings and determine the business case for digital preservation. Future work will 
 include the agreement of retention schedules and the development and agreement 
 of appropriate digital policies and strategies. Collaboration across the region with 
 colleagues in the Archive First Group will enable the sharing of skills, experience 
 and best practice for this new and challenging area.  

 
3.14 Support the delivery of Universal Credits through Peoples Network access 

and staff support. 
 Update: In January 2016 the weekday teams undertook the online training module 

developed by SCL in preparation for the introduction of Universal Credit. This 
training was also undertaken by the Saturday teams in May 2016. Universal credit 
began to be introduced in  Portsmouth in March 2016 but to date we have not 
experienced serious demand from residents seeking support to apply and manage 
their accounts. 

 
3.15    Explore the refurbishment of Cosham Library within existing budgets. 

 Update: This was not achieved during this time frame due to a lack of 
 additional budget. The aspiration is to move the public access computers into 
 the current children's space to create an IT learning Zone which can also provide a 
 more private space for individual IT users. The Children's Library would move to the 
 space at the back of the building, furthest from the exit and close to the toilets. This 
 can only be achieved if budget can be identified to provide new children's shelving, 
 additional data points and make good the current IT space.  

 
3.16 Develop Friends Groups at Alderman Lacey, Cosham and North End Libraries 
 Update: It has not been possible to engage interested parties at these libraries in 

2015/16. The libraries have advertised, held coffee mornings and met with 
individuals who wished to discuss the possibility, of forming a group,  but did not 
engage. The opportunities will be re-promoted at all libraries in the year ahead.  

 
 
4.  Reasons for recommendations 

 The following recommendations have been brought forward to the 2016/17 
 Library and Archives operation plan for the reasons stated below 

 
4.1 Deliver annual budget savings (2016/17). 

This action is required by all PCC services in order to achieve the targeted savings. 
 

4.2 Increase volunteer hours with the Library and Archive Services by 5% 
annually 

 This target is in line with the requirements of the business plan and essential to the 
running and delivery of some non statutory aspects of the services. These  include 



  

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

the "At Home Library Service", Summer Reading Challenge and Friends Group 
activities. 

 
4.3 Develop and agree a policy for the identification, safe storage and 

management of "Born Digital" archive for Portsmouth. 
 The current "Born Digital" work stream is a 5 year project and should remain in 

business plans with annual reporting for this period. "Born Digital" is the process for 
ensuring ongoing appropriate retention and preservation of records only created 
and held digitally to ensure archive is not lost for future generations. If this 
recommendation is not agreed there is a significant risk of important records being 
lost. 

 
4.4 Continue to develop the health and wellbeing library offer including library 

engagement with Macmillan Cancer Support, development of dementia 
collections, vision impaired services and Books on Prescription. 

 This meets the Health and Wellbeing strand of the Libraries 5 Universal Offers and 
is in line with PCC agendas to support residents needs and minimise health 
inequalities. 

 
4.5 Exploration of separate Archive Photographic Store 
 The Photographic collection is currently held within the Southsea Archive 
 Repository and as photographs require cooler less humid environments, than paper 
 archive, the entire store is required to maintain these climatic conditions, with some 
 pressure on cost. A separate store would provide greater flexibility and more growth 
 space within the main repository. This can only be achieved if additional budget can 
 be identified from internal or external sources. This work stream will only be 
 progressed if budget is identified and appropriate permissions obtained. 
 
4.6 Explore the development or refurbishment of Cosham Library within existing 
 budgets. 
 This workstream is still outstanding due to lack of available budget in 2015/16. The 
 library suffers from the lack of an identified IT learning space and a vibrant and 
 engaging space for the children's library. Overall Cosham Library has performed 
 less well, compared with its sister library in North End and requires further attention 
 in order to support information, literacy and learning need in the north of the city. 
 This can only be achieved if additional budget can be identified from internal or 
 external sources. This work stream will only be  progressed if budget is identified 
 and appropriate permissions obtained. 
 
4.7 Continue to develop and support the Friends Group programme at libraries 
 across the city. 
 Friends groups bring social, financial and promotional benefits to libraries.  The 
 development of new groups should be facilitated and supported, where there is 
 sufficient community commitment and existing groups, encouraged  to develop in 
 response to changing circumstances and membership. 
 
4.8 Continue the delivery and development of the following annual events: 
 

 BookFest Book Festival 

 Portsmouth History Fair/Archives Week event 



  

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 Summer Reading Challenge 

 Portsmouth Book Awards for Picture Books, Shorter Novel and Longer 
Novel 

 Portsmouth Literature Quizzes 
 

All of the above activities support literacy, reader and cultural development and 
learning for all ages and abilities living, working and studying in the city. They are 
the Library and Archive Services key promotional tools for increasing breadth of 
access to all areas of provision. 
 

4.9 The following recommendations are added to the Library and Archive 
Operations  Plan for the forthcoming year 2016/17 for the reasons stated 
below: 

 
4.9.1 Make the following changes to the Library Management System: 
 

 Transfer from the PCC server to "hosting" on the Civica server 
This is required as Microsoft will discontinue support for the current server 
from the end of July 2016 

 Upgrade from Spydus 8 to Spydus 10 
 The Spydus 8 version will cease to be supported by Civica from the end of 
 2017. The upgrade also enable the library and archive services to benefit 
 from the following modules unavailable on Spydus 10: 
 

o EDI. This will enable new stock to be invoiced direct to branch and 
provide better stock control 

o Event booking This will provide a flexible booking system delivering 
free and charged for events without making payment to any third party 
agencies. This will be of particular benefit to BookFest and enable 
more low key events to be facilitated at low or no cost 

o .Volunteer module. This will increase the options for volunteers to 
work across the service by providing limited access to parts of the 
library management system without any data protection concerns. 

o Mobile App. This will increase access by enabling library and later, 
archive members to access their account remotely via a smart device. 
 

4.9.2 Upload the Archive catalogue to Spydus 10 
 This will support the PCC and National Archives aspiration for increasing access to 
 services and records while minimising damage and direct handling of resources. 
 Once completed, this will enable interested parties to access records digitally from 
 any location. 
 
4.9.3 Publication of two Portsmouth Papers with print on demand options 
 This is in line with the requirements of the business plan and to increase knowledge 
 and understanding of Portsmouth history. 
 
4.9.4 Delivery of digital archives project with procured external provider. 
 This is the second stage of the project to work with a large heritage subscription 
 website to provide digitised and indexed access to the record. This will avoid 



  

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 regular handling of the documents and provide access via the internet to directly 
 view the records. 
 
4.9.5 Embed the short story competition as an  annual BookFest event 
 To support literacy and creative writing, with a focus on the city of  Portsmouth. 
 
4.9.6 Development of staff training days with embedded use of "Learning Pool" 

modules. 
 This enables Portsmouth Library staff to access nationally produced, moderated 

and reviewed training to ensure national consistency. The on-line nature of the 
training ensures they can be flexibly accessed for group work and inductions. 

 
4.9.7 Explore funding bids to develop subject areas in information stock initially at 
 the Central library 
 To develop and promote use of information stock, improving access and  library 
 issues 
 
4.9.8 Move the  key communication model with library members, from post  to 
 email, with charges, at cost,  for postal communication from April 2017 
 To improve opportunities for communication with library members and reduce 
 costs on postal communication 
 
4.9.9 Deliver activities and events, to commemorate and celebrate the 40th birthday 
 of the Central Library and the 5th birthday of Southsea Library. 
 To promote the respective libraries and the range of services available.  
 
5. Equality impact assessment (EIA) 
 
5.1 A preliminary EIA has been completed 
 
6. Legal comments 
 
6.1  There are no legal comments arising directly from the recommendations in this 

report other than ensuring that the Arts Council England Capital funding guidance 
criteria relating to the small grants programme is fully complied with. 

 
  
7. Director of Finance’s comments 
 
7.1 It is recognised that there is no additional PCC financial resource available to 

support the recommendations contained in this report. The Library Business Plan 
will continue to be funded from existing budgets.  

 
7.2 Sources of external funding including potential sources of income for the service will 

continue to be explored to support the future development of;  
 

 Online access to archive photographic records  

 Digitisation and improved access to specified elements of the Portsmouth 
Archive record  

 Development of Cosham Library  



  

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 Development of Literature Centre and IT Learning Zone  

 Development and promotion of information stock and improved access 
initially at the Central library  

 
 
 
 
…………………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Stephen Baily 
Director of Culture and City Development 
 
 
Appendices:     Appendix A: : Equality Impact Assessment 
 
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

  

  

 
 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure and Sport on 15 July 2015. 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure and Sport 
 















 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
Title of meeting: 
 

Culture, Leisure and Sport Decision Meeting 

Date of meeting: 
 

15 July 2016 

Subject: 
 

Development of the D-Day Museum Collection 

Report by: 
 

Director of  Culture and City Development 
 

Wards affected: 
 

All  

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council 
decision: 

No 

 

 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1  To provide details of how the D-Day Museum Collections will be developed to 

deliver the aspirations for the new D-Day Museum displays, which will open in 
late 2017 as part of the Transforming the D-Day Museum project.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
  The Cabinet Member for Culture Leisure and Sport: 

 
2.1  Approves the preparation of a separate collection development policy for 

 the D-Day Museum. 
 

2.2  Notes the recent acquisition of artefacts for the D-Day Museum's new 
 displays, both purchases funded by the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) grant 
 and donations from the public. 

 

2.3  Notes that non-collection items from the old displays which are not 
 required for the new D-Day Museum displays will be disposed of 
 according to Portsmouth City Council procedures. 

 

2.4  Approves the transfer or disposal of larger accessioned items which are 
 not required for the new D-Day Museum displays and which the museum 
 does not have the storage space or funds to place in storage for the long 
 term. This process will be carried out according to the Museums' 
 Collections Development Policy. 

 

2.5  Notes that the D-Day Museum is pursuing loans of artefacts from 
 museums in the UK and abroad, for use in its new displays. 

 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

2.6  Notes the planned loan to the Juno Beach Centre museum in Normandy of 
 one or more artefacts from the D-Day Museum's collection.  

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 Conservation Plan 

 
3.1.1 The development of the Transforming the D-Day Museum project has benefitted 
 from the preparation of a number of reports as required by the project's main 
 funder, the HLF. The Conservation Plan, prepared in 2015 by consultants as 
 part of the 2nd Round HLF bid, included a review of existing policies pertaining to 
 the management of the council's museum collections relating to D-Day, their 
 significance and actions required to raise standards of care and access. This 
 report included thirteen recommendations, implementation of which is one of the 
 approved purposes of the HLF grant and one of the outcomes that will be 
 monitored. The plan made various recommendations including:  

 
3.1.2 Focussing future collecting on artefacts that have good provenance, meaning a 

known connection to the story of D-Day, such as having belonged to a specific 
person who took part in the campaign, or being linked to a known place in 
Normandy - as opposed to generic Second World War equipment without known 
history. The distinction between these two types of objects is not always made in 
the museum's current displays, and reflects how the displays were originally put 
together in a short period of time. 

 
3.1.3 That we formally define what constitutes the D-Day Museum Collection (e.g. 

what period does it cover, in what circumstances would retain or acquire more 
general Second World War material and so on) and prepare a D-Day Museum 
Collection Development Policy (as opposed to the existing one for the Museums 
Services collections as a whole). 

 
3.1.4 The Conservation Plan also questioned our understanding of the D-Day 

Museum collection as an entity and how it fits with other related museum 
collections. As part of the D-Day Collections Audit, carried out in 2015, we have 
identified 427 institutions from 16 countries that hold archive or museum 
collections relating to the Normandy campaign. As well as the more obvious 
military museum/archive sources, these also include for example the archives of 
companies that produced equipment used on D-Day. This is a first stage in the 
process of understanding how the collection fits alongside the holdings of other 
museums and archives. 

 
3.2 D-Day Museum Collection parameters 

 
3.2.1 Our work on the new displays for the D-Day Museum has enabled us to further 

consider the parameters of the museum's collection and the issue of the 
provenance of artefacts in several ways.  

  



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
3.2.2 We have begun developing the storylines that will form part of the new D-Day 

Museum displays, including considering which artefacts will play the most 
significant roles, and how different artefacts relate to the stories that we are 
telling. Using objects to tell the story, rather than merely illustrating it, will be a 
key characteristic of the new displays. This process has confirmed the breadth 
of the museum's collections, but has also highlighted certain gaps in the 
collections such as material about non-British participation in D-Day, or 
Occupied France.  

 
3.2.3 We have worked with a museum exhibition interpretative planner (a consultant) 

to determine what aspects of Second World War history to include or exclude 
from the new displays. Focussing the displays in this way ensures that they will 
provide a clear message for our visitors, which is increasingly important given 
that, compared to several decades ago when the museum opened, many 
visitors do not arrive at the museum with a detailed knowledge of this period of 
history. While the museum is titled the D-Day Museum, it is important to place 
the D-Day Landings on 6 June 1944 in context, using both events leading up to 
that point and the subsequent fighting in Normandy.  

 
3.2.4 The starting point for the displays will be the May-June 1940 Dunkirk 

Evacuation, as the withdrawal of the British armed forces from continental 
Europe meant that Britain and her allies would in the future need to return with a 
stronger force - as happened four years later on D-Day - in order to liberate 
France and defeat the Nazi regime.  

 
3.2.5 While the new displays will focus on the preparations for D-Day and events in 

Normandy, some wider context will be included. For example, the displays will 
include the contribution of US manufacturing in producing some of the 
equipment used by many of the allied nations on D-Day.  

 
3.2.6 The core of the displays will focus on events in Normandy from D-Day (6 June 

1944) to the end of August 1944 and the liberation of Paris, which is the period 
generally known as the Battle of Normandy.  

 
3.2.7 The "Legacy" section of the displays will also look at the post-war period, 

considering for example what it was like for Normandy veterans (and their 
families) when they returned home, or the activities of Normandy veterans (for 
example, membership of veteran's organisations, and talking about their 
experiences with other people). 

 
3.2.8 Our discussions with a range of museums in the UK, Normandy and USA have 

determined that the number of artefacts with a known connection to D-Day 
(meaning that they were actually used on D-Day by a known person) is relatively 
small. In contrast, objects connected with a person who served on D-Day, but 
that were not actually there on the day, are more common (these would include, 
for example, items of uniform issued to a soldier near the end of the war to 
replace their uniform that was damaged or dirty due to being worn in battle – the 
latter often being destroyed). 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
3.3 Other military history collecting areas 

 
 While the D-Day Museum's collections will be increasingly focussed as 

described above, the Museums will continue to collect material relating to 
Portsmouth's military history and the armed forces service of Portsmouth 
people. This includes, for example, material relating to the First World War 
which was used in the "Lest we Forget" exhibition at Portsmouth Museum in 
2014. Such material would form part of the wider Portsmouth Museums 
Collection.  

 
3.4 Decant and disposal 

 
 The first stage of the redevelopment work in the D-Day Museum building 

(decant) will involve removing all the artefacts from the current displays. Any 
items that we will not be using in the new displays (because of lack of 
provenance or lack of space), and that due to their size we will not have the 
space to store or the budget to pay for long-term storage for, will need to be 
transferred to another museum or otherwise disposed of, as set out in the 
Museums' Collections Development Policy. In the first place, such items will be 
offered to another Accredited museum. These include the following accessioned 
items (please see Appendix 1 for notes on non-accessioned items): 

 

 1990/18, Hoover. 

 1995/51, DKW NZ solo German motorcycle.  

 1995/53, Willy's jeep (no engine, currently used in glider scene).  

 1990/1401, Dingo armoured car.  

3.5 Loans 
 
3.5.1 It is common for museums to borrow artefacts from each other (generally for a 

limited period). D-Day Museum staff have been in touch with a number of 
relevant museums to enquire about the possibility of loans to fill certain gaps in 
the museum’s own collections. These museums include: 

 
 In the UK: Imperial War Museum, National Museum of the Royal Navy, 

National Army Museum, BBC, Hampshire Regiment Museum, Museum of 

Army Flying, Tank Museum. 

 In Normandy: Memorial de Caen, Memorial Pegasus, D-Day Museum at 

Arromanches, Juno Beach Centre. 

 Elsewhere in France: various Resistance museums. 

 In USA: National World War II Museum, National D-Day Memorial, First 

Division Museum. 

 As well as a number of private individuals and families. 

  



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
3.5.2 We plan to lend the Juno Beach Centre in Normandy one or more artefacts 

from the D-Day Museum's collection, in exchange for borrowing artefacts from 
the Juno Beach Centre for the D-Day Museum's displays. We are still 
discussing the exact choice of artefacts, but they might for example include a 
white ensign flag from landing craft LCT 2047 which landed troops at Juno 
Beach (2004/3014). 

 
3.6 Purchases 

 
 The D-Day Museum's Heritage Lottery Fund grant includes a budget of £15,000 

for making new acquisitions for the museum's collections, for use in the new 
displays. This budget also has to cover the cost of loans for the displays, which 
is likely to require a significant proportion of the budget (for example that we 
intend to borrow several artefacts from a US museum, which will mean paying 
for flights from the US to the UK plus hotel rooms for a member of staff who is 
couriering the items to us). This funding has already enabled us to acquire items 
for the collections which fill some gaps in what the museum holds, particularly 
relating to Occupied France and the French Resistance 1940-1944. Please see 
Appendix 2 for list of items purchased to date that will be used in the new D-Day 
Museum displays. 

 
3.7 Donations 

 
  The majority of the D-Day Museum's collections have been acquired through the 

generosity of veterans, their families and other individuals and organisations 
who have donated artefacts. Please see Appendix 3 for list of items donated in 
the past 12 months, some of which are likely to be used in the new D-Day 
Museum displays. 

 
4. Reasons for recommendations 
 
4.1  The development of the D-Day Museum's collections as described above is 

driven by the following:  
 
4.2  The £5m project to redevelop the D-Day Museum. £4m of this funding is being 

provided by the Heritage Lottery Fund, which comes with certain conditions on 
the management and development of the museum's collections. 

 
4.3  Our increasingly detailed plans for the new displays, which mean that we have 

conducted our most thorough ever review of the museum's collections and how 
they can be used to tell the story of D-Day in a way that is suitable for a broad 
audience. 

 
4.4 A renewed focus on collecting material with a provenance to a known individual, 
 place or event connected with D-Day and the Battle of Normandy, as opposed to 
 wider Second World War material 'of the type' used in the campaign. 
 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

4.5 Our limited capacity for storing that part of the collection which is not on display - 
especially the lack of storage space for larger items. 

 
4.6 The existing Museums' Collections Development Policy 2013 - 2018. 

 
4.7  The development of a Collection Development Policy for the D-Day Museum 

alone (as opposed to the existing one for the Museums Services collections as a 
whole) is in line with recommendations of Conservation Plan. It is also one of the 
approved purposes of the Heritage Lottery grant received by the D-Day Museum 
in 2016, meaning that drawing up this Policy is a condition of receiving the grant. 

 
 
5. Equality impact assessment (EIA) 
 
5.1 A preliminary EIA has been completed and this is attached (Appendix 4) 
 
 
6. Legal comments 
 
6.1 There are no legal implications arising directly from the recommendations in this 

report other than the exceptions outlined below. 
  
6.2  The Heritage Lottery Fund award letter is accompanied by the standard terms 

and additional grant conditions which will need to be complied with to ensure 
clawback provisions are not invoked for non-compliance. 

 
6.3  Under Part 2, Section 3 of the City's Council Constitution (responsibilities of the 

Cabinet and further in accordance with the Schedule of Delegations at Appendix 
A of the Executive Procedure Rules in Part 3 of the Constitution, the Cabinet 
Member for Culture, Leisure and Sport has authority to approve the 
recommendations in this report. 

 
6.4  A Local Authority has power to do anything that individuals generally may do 

under the general power of competence Section 1(1) of the Localism Act 2011. 
The proposals recommended are consistent with this power and the Councils 
Museum Collections Development Policy dated 2013-2018 and associated 
legislation. 

 
 
7. Director of Finance comments 
 
7.1 The recommendations in this report have and will continue to be implemented 

within the financial resources of the service. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Stephen Baily 
Director of Culture and City Development 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 - List of items to be transferred or disposed 
 
Appendix 2 - List of items purchased to date that will be used in the new D-Day 
Museum displays. 
 
Appendix 3 - List of items donated in the past twelve months, some of which are 
likely to be used in the new D-Day Museum displays. 
 
Appendix 4 : Preliminary EIA 
 
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

N/A  

 
 
 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure and Sport on 15 July 2015. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure and Sport 
  



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
Appendix 1 
 
List of items that will need to be transferred to another museum or otherwise 
disposed of because they will not be used in the new displays and that due to their 
size we will not have the space to store or the budget to pay for long-term storage 
for.  
 
Accessioned collection items 
 
1. 1990/18, Hoover. 
2. 1995/51, DKW NZ solo German motorcycle.  
3. 1995/53, Willy's jeep (no engine).  
4. 1990/1401, Dingo armoured car.  
 
Unaccessioned, non-collection items  
 
1. Various larger unaccessioned items of furniture used as set dressing e.g. tables 

and chairs. 
2. Various smaller unaccessioned items used in displays e.g. cups and saucers. 
3. Eisenhower, Churchill and Roosevelt mannequins. Other mannequins will be 

retained for future use, but these will be disposed of because they have wax faces 
depicting these leaders and are in fixed positions which limits their use elsewhere in 
our museums. 

4. Certain items of clothing worn by mannequins in displays, where very worn, surplus 
to requirements, replica rather than original and therefore not required for future 
use, or unusable for other purposes because coated with resin (meaning that the 
garment is fixed in one position). Some clothing from mannequins will be kept for 
future use in displays, at events etc.  

5. Southwick House wall map replica. We will not be using this in the new displays, but 
intend to keep at least the central part of the replica for future use in events and 
activities etc. Due to limited storage space we may decide to dispose of part of it. 

6. Mockup of section of Horsa glider, created by D-Day Museum staff. 
7. Painted glider scene on left wall of glider scene. Painted wrecked houses scene in 

background.  
 
  



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
Appendix 2 
 
List of items purchased to date that will be used in the new D-Day Museum displays. 
 
1. French Resistance newspaper "Patrie", December 1943 
2. British Army emergency ration tin with part-eaten contents, collected by French boy 

from Pegasus Bridge area shortly after the fighting. 
3. Two US V-mail letters, one from soldier of 112th Infantry Regt. in 1943 about being 

in UK before D-Day, one from soldier of 25th Infantry Regt. dated July 1944 about 
being in Normandy. 

4. A "death card" for German soldier killed on D-Day, produced by his family. 
5. Four French Vichy regime "Bon de solidarite" notes, type of propaganda for the 

regime. 
6. A US poster "I need your skill in a war job", encouraging US workers to do war 

work. 
7. Two Free French (FFI) armbands that belonged to Roger Moise, a member of the 

Jade Amicol Resistance network, plus authenticating letter. 
8. US Bronze Star medal awarded to Major Bernhard J. Brungs of OSS, with original 

citation (for service from D-Day to end of war). 
9. A German minefield marker. 
10. A "two sons in service" banner from USA, displayed by householder to indicate that 

they had two sons serving in the US armed forces. 
11. A large collection of artefacts and documents relating to US soldier James O'Hara 

who served in Normandy 1944. 
12. Two radios secretly used by French civilians to listen to the BBC during the German 

occupation of France.  
13. An electrical detonator for explosives, used by the French Resistance in the Vercors 

region of France. 
14. A French Vichy regime poster blaming the English for France's problems at the time 

of French defeat by the Germans, 1940.  
15. A poster produced by the Germans during occupation of France, warning the 

French against acts of sabotage or resistance, 1942. 
16. Various items of German military equipment adapted by French people for civilian 

use. 
17. A French Resistance armband mounted on card, sent back to USA by a veteran. 
18. Six photographs: three showing men of Princess Irene Brigade (Dutch troops) 

training in UK and in action in Normandy; two of German soldiers at the Eiffel Tower 
in 1944; one of British troops in training, 1944 (all wartime prints). 

19. “L’Amerique en Guerre” US propaganda leaflet dropped on France, 1944. 
20. Postcard sent to France by Frenchman in a labour camp in Germany, 1944. 
  



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
Appendix 3 
 
List of items donated in the past twelve months, some of which are likely to be used 
in the new D-Day Museum displays. 
 
1. Collection of veteran's and commemorative items belonging to the late Normandy 

veteran Roland Jefferson (Normandy Veterans Association national standard 
bearer for many years), including his NVA blazer, an NVA standard, programmes 
for church services etc. 

2. Collection of mainly commemorative items belonging to the late Normandy veteran 
Ken Collins, Normandy Veterans Association member. 

3. Documents that belonged to Normandy veteran John Salt, who landed on Juno 
Beach on D-Day with the County of London Yeomanry. 

4. Eleven maps/charts relating to Lieutenant Commander Oliver Dawkins who served 
on a minesweeper on D-Day. 

5. Medals and badges that belonged to local Normandy veteran Robert Thornburrow. 
6. A NAAFI cap badge which belonged to Mrs J. Malthouse, who provided 

refreshments to troops in a New Forest camp before D-Day. 
7. "Life" magazine 6/3/1944, including a picture story about US troops assembling in 

UK before D-Day. 
8. Items collected by Normandy veteran Harry Backinsell, including unused sick bags 

issued for the crossing to Normandy shortly after D-Day. 
9. Documents that belonged to Jack Spurrier who was Deputy Stores Victualling 

Officer at the Royal Clarence Victualling Yard at Gosport 1943-1946, mainly relating 
to provision of food for D-Day fleet. 

10. A Playstation 2 game 'Medal of Honor Frontline', which includes scenes on D-Day. 
The donor's grandfather is a Normandy veteran. 

11. A ship's wheel that was temporarily fitted to steel Mulberry Harbour 'Beetle' 
pontoons while they were being towed along the River Thames from the Thorpe 
Bros. yard at East or West Molesey in West London, to the mouth of the Thames.  

12. Royal Navy officer's sword, medals and photos of Surgeon Commander Bill McKee 
RN, who served on HMS Enterprise on D-Day. 

13. The war diary of No.1 Beach Squadron RAF, which landed in Normandy on D-Day. 
In German army pouch. 

14. A wartime drawing showing 'Gooseberry' Harbour at Juno Beach, Normandy, after 
D-Day. 

15. Ten photos of Mulberry Harbour components in UK and Normandy, which belonged 
to Sir Geoffrey Burton, involved in making the Harbours. 

 
Certain other donations that have been made to the museum military history collections 
over the past twelve months are not listed here because they relate to Portsmouth's 
military history rather than the story of D-Day, or are not so suitable for the new displays. 
However they are appreciated as additions to our collections and in future can potentially 
be used in other displays and activities. 
 











 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Title of meeting: 
 

Culture, Leisure and Sport Decision Meeting  

Date of meeting: 
 

15 July 2016 

Subject: 
 

Portsmouth Museums Update 

Report by: 
 

Director of  Culture and City Development 
 

Wards affected: 
 

All 

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council 
decision: 

No 

 

 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 To review the achievements of Portsmouth Museums Service in 2015/16 and to 

present the service’s operational ‘Plan on a Page’ (PoP) for the current financial 
year.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 The review of last year's activity and progress and on the delivery of the 

council’s museums strategy is noted, especially the achievement of the Arts 
Council England Accreditation standard and the successful outcome of the 
second round application to the Heritage Lottery Fund for Transforming the 
D-Day Museum. 

 
2.2 The project to transform the D-Day Museum continues as planned and as the 

priority for the service, including input from the project’s 4 advisory panels, 
the development of volunteering opportunities and the recruitment of 3 paid 
(living-wage) interns.  

 
2.3 A new Butterfly House is acquired for Cumberland House to improve the 

standards under which the live butterflies are kept. 
 
2.4 The Museums Service supports and facilitates the delivery of the Paulsgrove-

based project 'Capturing the Spirit’ in partnership with the Paulsgrove and 
Wymering Trust. 

 
2.5  External funding is sought for the Conservation of the Edward King collection 

and associated activities to enhance public access to the collection and to 
support the loan of 'Night Raid on Portsmouth Docks'   from TATE. 
 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

2.6 Cash donations given by the public at Cumberland House and Portsmouth 
Museum are used to support the Butterfly House and Edward King 
Conservation projects respectively.  

 
2.7     The 'Game Over' installation at Portsmouth Museum is noted.  
 
2.8     The Health & Safety audit at the Eastney Beam Engine House site is noted.  
 
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 2015/16 is the first year of activity since the formal approval of the Portsmouth 

Museums Strategy in March 2015.  The Strategy struck a balance between benefits 
for individuals – in terms of learning, health and well-being – and benefits for the 
city – developing high quality attractions.  The vision and key aims of the service 
are:  

3.1.2 Our vision: 

The Museum Service contributes to the Council’s vision for Portsmouth as 
‘the great waterfront city’.   

Our collections are a resource and tool that benefit local communities, visitors and 
the city itself. Our collections are inspiring, accessible and relevant, supporting local 
learning, employability, skills development and wellbeing and providing high quality 
visitor attractions offering excellent customer care. 

3.1.3 Our key aims: 

To achieve our purpose, we will focus on the following key aims 2015 – 2020.  

 Reflect the diversity of the city’s culture and communities in our visitors and 

offer 

 Provide inspirational opportunities for people to enjoy and learn from the 

collections 

 Build the profile and reputation of the Great Waterfront City by showcasing 

the national and international heritage of the city, and delivering excellent 

customer care  

 Ensure sustainability and resilience through an entrepreneurial approach to 

income generation and partnerships    

 Create a learning culture across the service to develop and empower staff 

 

 Develop new audiences using digital technology  

 
3.2  The priority for the Museums Service during 2015/16 was undertaking the 

development work required for the second round application to the Heritage Lottery 
Fund (HLF); getting the bid in on time and obtaining a successful outcome.  This 
was delivered successfully and is a major achievement for the service against the 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

backdrop of operating the council’s six museums and ongoing savings 
requirements.  As reported elsewhere the total project cost is circa £5 million, with 
the HLF contributing circa £4 million, and the council circa £0.5 million.  As part of 
the project we funded a 12 month apprentice post, and a second apprentice, a care-
leaver, also worked with the frontline team at the D-Day Museum.  

 
3.3 The documentation required for the national benchmarking standard – 

‘Accreditation’ – that is overseen by Arts Council England was submitted at the start 
of the financial year (April 2015) and we had to wait some 10 months before hearing 
the outcome.  This was positive – all sites receiving Accreditation.  The only area 
identified for further work related to documentation of collections.   

 
3.4  The continuing need to find savings while maintaining services has resulted in new 

partnerships and a more entrepreneurial approach.  The catering and events 
contract was successfully procured for Southsea Castle and the castle continues to 
generate income through venue hire and civil ceremonies.   A small number of Civil 
Ceremonies have been held at Dickens’ Birthplace and Portsmouth Museum.   

 
3.5 In addition, to reduce the need for seasonal staff, the museum service has focused 

on the recruitment of volunteers for public facing roles.  41 volunteers started 
between April 2015 and March 2016 – including 15 at the D-Day Museum and 18 at 
Portsmouth Museum (including 12 for the Children’s Television exhibition). 50% of 
them are still with us, some taking on different roles, for example: 2 of the 
volunteers at Portsmouth Museum are assisting with Dementia Walking Group 
visits, 2 of the D-Day Museum volunteers are now assisting with the Transforming 
the D-Day Museum project and another is helping us engage students with 
disabilities to enhance their employability skills and 1 of the volunteers originally 
recruited for the Children’s Television exhibition now provides an extra pair of hands 
at events.  One of our ‘Lest We Forget’ (Portsmouth Museum) volunteers was 
shortlisted for the Arts, Culture and Heritage Volunteer Award in 2015 and in 2016 
one of our D-Day Museum Volunteers won it (and Portsmouth Volunteer of the Year 
2016).  

 
3.6 In accordance with the Investors in Volunteers Standard (achieved in January 

2014), we recruit volunteers for specific roles which are described in a ‘role 
description’ and advertised.  Recruitment involves a site visit and taking up 
references.  A starter pack is issued and new volunteers will be given an induction 
to the site at which they will be volunteering.  In 2015 a volunteer discount card was 
introduced, giving 10% discount in the museum shops for anyone contributing over 
25 hours in a given calendar year. 
 

3.7 At any one time between 90 and 110 volunteers support the service in both frontline 
and back-of-house roles managing the Beehive and helping with the Butterfly 
House (Friends of Cumberland House), working on the steam and gas engines at 
Eastney Beam Engine House, carrying out a range of documentation tasks at 
Portsmouth Museum and the digitisation of collections - 1,321 images scanned 
during 2015/16 - and acting as costumed interpreters at Dickens’ Birthplace and 
Southsea Castle.  In 2015/16 volunteers contributed a total of 7,406 hours or 1001 
days (at 7.4 hours per day).  This equates to 4.4 FTE posts.     



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
3.8 In addition to volunteering opportunities, our work to broaden engagement with the 

service has included supporting the development of the successful bid to the HLF 
for ‘Capturing the Spirit’ and delivery of the Health and Wellbeing team-led project 
'Mess at the Museum' a project to address isolation among veterans of recent 
conflicts. We have continued to be actively involved, as the ‘non-academic’ partner, 
in the AHRC funded collaborative doctoral award to the University of Portsmouth for 
research based on the Conan Doyle Collection (due to end in 2016).  A stitching 
project inspired by the Overlord Embroidery and 'make do and mend' was 
successfully delivered in partnership with arts organisation 'Making Space' and with 
funding from the Armed Forces Community Covenant.  Participants visited the D-
Day Museum and Overlord Embroidery - most for the first time - and gained new 
skills.   

 
3.9 Work has continued to bring Portsmouth's Historic Environment Record (HER) up to 

date.  A total of 172 new records have been added and 322 existing records 
enhanced. Details of approximately 20 reports still need to be added, including 
current archaeological fieldwork, and 221 listed building records require updating. 
Research is also ongoing to identify sites not recorded on the HER, and older 
records which need enhancing. The HER received 32 enquiries during 2015/16.  
 

3.10 The HER officer is continuing to liaise with the Hampshire Archaeology Unit in the 
provision of data to assist with development related archaeological advice. This has 
included assisting with the drafting of new ALERT layers for the City, which high-
light areas of archaeological potential. The HER had a prominent presence at the 
Festival of Archaeology event, 'Step into the Stone Age', held at Portsmouth 
Museum in July 2015.  

 
3.11 Although the Museums Service has provided a range of events and activities across 

all sites, additional activities were introduced to complement the A Hard Choice 
exhibition with Heritage Lottery Fund support.   Activities included story telling 
sessions for schools, families and young carers, a gallery trail for children, 'Meet the 
Experts' talks, a prints masterclass, three community collections showcases and a 
short story writing competition.  Aoife Mannix's work as Writer in Residence was a 
real highlight.  She worked with over 140 people including families, young carers, 
Year 9 learners with additional needs, teenagers and adults.  70% of participants 
hadn't visited Portsmouth Museums before.  Every participant wrote a story or poem 
inspired by the exhibition and we published a 44 page collection of their writing.   
 

3.12 The Children's Television exhibition (hired from the Herbert, Coventry) proved 
hugely popular with families and is largely responsible for the visitor numbers 
achieved at Portsmouth Museum.  A permanent exhibition for the former temporary 
exhibition has yet to be decided upon, although the space is currently occupied by 
the Edward King exhibition.   
 

3.13 Three of the council's museums, including the D-Day Museum participated in the 
'Visitor Finder' project (an Audience Agency initiative) which enabled us to 
benchmark our services against those of other museums in the city and immediate 
area (including for example the Mary Rose Museum). We received the reports 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

which have provided good data on both how we are performing (100% of visitors 
rating the overall visit as good or very good) and also importantly how visitors are 
finding out about us so we can measure which marketing activity is working best. 
Our focus going forward is to have a good mix of printed marketing collateral and 
improved website information these were the two highest sources of information 
after word of mouth. Press and PR also scored highly so we will continue to create 
media stories and interest. We will also focus on increased social media activity and 
focussed outdoor advertising.   
 

3.14 The new 10 year catering and events contract has been procured for Southsea 
Castle with Café Henry the successful company. This partnership enables us to 
maximise the income from the castle for weddings and other events and also offer 
an excellent on site café/ restaurant. As part of the Waterfont Gifts retail project the 
Southsea castle shop has been completely refurbished and this should lead to an 
increase in shop income. The Southsea Brewing Company have completed their 
conversion of one of the Castle casemates (and will be formally opening on 25 
June).       

 
3.15 To improve the quality of the museum experience two permanent staff are now 

trained Welcome Host trainers who can deliver this essential customer care training 
in house to museums staff and volunteers. We have so far had two training 
sessions attended by 12 staff and more sessions are planned.  
 

3.16 The D-Day Museum, Charles Dickens' Birthplace and Portsmouth Museum all now 
hold the Visit Britain GREAT China Welcome Charter.  The charter programme 
helps Chinese visitors easily identify hotels, attractions, retailers and tour operators 
that are making themselves ‘China-ready’ by providing information in Mandarin or 
Cantonese and adapting their products for the Chinese market and culture.  It also 
gives our museums priority access to opportunities to reach the China market and 
connect with Chinese customers. Effectively this is a partnership between 
VisitBritain and those British tourism businesses that are committed to providing 
exceptional service to Chinese travellers. 
 

3.17 There were 294,590 visits made to Portsmouth Museums in 2015/16, 300,890 if the 
estimated 6,300 guests at the champagne bar are included.  Visits at Southsea 
Castle and Portsmouth Museum were up on the previous year. Visits were down at 
D-Day Museum (not unexpectedly as 2014 was the 70th Anniversary year), and 
Cumberland House (although the museum did achieve a very respectable 70,000 
visits). Visits at Dickens' Birthplace were down by 52% reflecting the 50% reduction 
in opening hours.  An additional 49,920 visits were made to see items from 
Portsmouth's collections on loan to other museums - 'Gosport Entrance to 
Portsmouth Harbour' by JMW Turner (at Salisbury and South Wiltshire Museum), 
'Entrance to Portsmouth Harbour' by George Chambers (St Barbe Museum & Art 
Gallery) and 'The Suburban Order' by David Jones (Pallant House).   
 

 
 
 
 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

4. Reasons for recommendations 
 
4.1 The recommendations largely focus on the plan on a page for the year ahead, 

however, but start with the major achievements of the service in 2015/16 delivered 
in spite of the reduction in funding from the council and associated staff losses 
including securing £4 million for the transformation of the D-Day Museum.    

 
4.2  Transforming the D-Day Museum remains the service priority.  This is a £5 million 

project that will run for 5 years.  A key milestone this year will be the start of work on 
site towards the end of 2016.  This will be preceded by the removal (‘decant’) of the 
collection and other equipment and procurement of the specialist conservators who 
will undertake remedial conservation work on the Overlord Embroidery and 
Vehicles.  Continuing development of the storylines and content of the new 
exhibitions remains a priority for this year, also branding, the development of a new 
website and the recruitment of the Public Programmes Officer; the post responsible 
for the delivery of the project Activity Plan.  This project delivers across Key Aims 1 
to 6, although particularly Key Aim 3: to build the profile and reputation of the Great 
Waterfront City by showcasing the national and international heritage of the city.  

 
4.3 The need for a new Butterfly House has been identified following a review of current 

provision by a butterfly house specialist commissioned by the Friends of 
Cumberland House and a condition report on the current building.  The existing 
building is reaching the end of its life and is not worth the investment needed to 
bring the conditions for the live butterflies up to standard.  The project will be 
delivered in partnership with a number of wildlife groups working locally and funded 
from a mix of sources.  

 
4.4 Since its opening in the 1970s, the Butterfly House has been perennially popular 

with families and provides an inspirational opportunity for visitors to enjoy and learn 
about the natural world as well as driving visits to the museum.   

 
4.5  The Paulsgrove based Capturing the Spirit project provides the museum service 

with an opportunity to work with a community which is not represented in the city’s 
museum collections and to deliver it in a way that will animate the main shopping 
street in Paulsgrove as recommended by the Scrutiny Panel for Economic 
Development, Culture and Leisure (March 2015).  Collecting items pertaining to 
under-represented communities is identified as a priority in the council’s Collection 
Development Policy and working with communities in Paulsgrove, in partnership 
with the Paulsgrove and Wymering Trust (project-lead) will contribute to the key aim 
of reflecting the city’s culture and communities in our visitors and offer (Key Aim 1).   

 
4.6 A condition report on the Edward King collection was completed in 2015/16 and four 

works were conserved in preparation for the opening of the Edward King A Life in 
Art exhibition at Portsmouth Museum in February.  It will cost circa £21,000 to have 
the remaining works conserved.  We have also secured the loan of the painting 
'Night Raid on Portsmouth Docks' from TATE in January 2017.  This fits with the 
Blittz / impact of bombing theme of the King exhibition and this will be the first time 
the painting has been shown in the city.  A bid is being prepared to the Heritage 
Lottery Fund to fund the conservation and loan and other complementary 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

programming to enhance access to the collection.   This work contributes to the key 
aim to provide inspirational opportunities for people to enjoy and learn from the 
collection (Key Aim 2).  

 
4.7 In 2015/16 the service generated £11,000 from visitors to the museum making 

small cash donations (this figure excludes donations received at the D-Day 
Museum which are going directly to the Portsmouth D-Day Museum Trust (in 
support of the Transforming the D-Day Museum project).  We would like to increase 
this to £18,000 in 2016/17 and would use the income generated at Cumberland 
House and Portsmouth Museum to support the Butterfly House project (including 
associated events) and the conservation of the Edward King respectively.   

 
4.8 Game Over: The Future of the Past installation opened at Portsmouth Museum in 

May. It features the largest single private collection of TV games, home computers 
and consoles on display in the UK. From the first Pong TV game to the latest 
Playstation console, this new exhibition spans over 40 years of home video gaming. 
Visitors can play on a hand-picked selection of consoles and explore the history of 
the video game with over 100 machines on display, spanning 8 generations of 
gaming technology.  This partnership will contribute to the sustainability and 
resilience of the Museum by generating increased footfall at the museum and 
broadening audiences (Key Aim 4).  
 

4.9 A full Health and Safety audit has been undertaken at the Eastney Beam Engine 
House site by the H&S team (Property and Housing Services).  The report has been 
received and includes a number of recommendations.  As the site is shared with a 
number of tenants and includes access for Southern Water we need to develop a 
'code of conduct' for the operation of the site to which everyone adheres.   

 
 
5. Equality impact assessment (EIA) 
 
5.1  A preliminary EIA has been completed and is attached (Appendix 2).   
 
  
6. Legal comments 
 
6.1 There are no legal implications arising directly from the recommendations in this 

report other than the exceptions outlined below. 
  

6.2  The Heritage Lottery Fund award letter is accompanied by the standard terms and 
additional grant conditions which will need to be complied with to ensure clawback 
provisions are not invoked for non-compliance. 

 
6.3  Under Part 2, Section 3 of the City's Council Constitution (responsibilities of the 

Cabinet and further in accordance with the Schedule of Delegations at Appendix A 
of the Executive Procedure Rules in Part 3 of the Constitution, the Cabinet Member 
for Culture, Leisure and Sport has authority to approve the recommendations in this 
report. 

 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

6.4  A Local Authority has power to do anything that individuals generally may do under 
the general power of competence Section 1(1) of the Localism Act 2011. The 
proposals recommended are consistent with this power.  

 
 
7. Director of Finance comments 
 
7.1  The actions contained within this report have or will be implemented within the 

approved financial resources for the Museums Service.  
 
7.2  Volunteer hours will supplement the existing staff resources providing valuable 

additional support for the service.  
 
7.3 Additional income generating initiatives are continually being explored in order that 

the operational plan can be fully implemented.  Income received from weddings, 
events, merchandising, catering and partnership working are examples of these. 

 
7.4  In addition to the above, grant income has been received and is being sought to 

further support these activities. The summary below details current and future grant 
funded projects; 

 

Project Funding Source Amount Period 

D-Day 75.  Transformation of 
museum, creation of heritage 
network and an inspiring new 
programme of activities. 

Heritage Lottery 
Fund - Development 
Stage  
Heritage Lottery 
Fund - Delivery 
Stage 
 

 
£224,900 

 
 

£4,044,500 

2014-2019 

D Day 75.  Supporting and 
complementing the D Day 75 
Project above. 
 

Armed Forces 
Covenant  

£15,000 2015 

Conservation of Edward King 
collection. 

Bid to be submitted 
to Heritage Lottery 
Fund  

£20,000-
£25,000 

estimated 
2016 

Conservation of Edward King 
collection and ongoing 
programme. 
 

Donations via City 
Museum 

£5,000 
estimated 

2016-2017 

Butterfly House ongoing 
programme. 
 

Donations via 
Cumberland House  

£5,000 
estimated 

2016-2017 

 A Hard Choice Exhibition  
Heritage Lottery 
Fund 

£10,000 2014-2016 

 
 
 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Stephen Baily 
Director of Culture and City Development 
 
Appendices:  Appendix 1 - Portsmouth Museums, Operational Plan on a Page 

2016/17 
 Appendix 2 - preliminary EIA form 
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

  

 
 
 
 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure and Sport 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
Appendix 1 - Portsmouth Museums - Operational Plan on a Page 2016/17 

 

Activity Museum 
Strategy 
Key Aim 

Lead Timescale Funded 
by 

1. Deliver Transforming the D-Day Museum (TDDM) in partnership with users and 
stakeholders   

Deliver implementation phase:  

 Building works 

 New displays incl AVs, loans etc.   

 Delivery of Activity Plan (incl recruit 
new post) 

 Branding, PR and Marketing (incl 
during 'dark' period) 

 Conservation Plan  

 Conservation of Overlord 
Embroidery and Vehicles 

 Decant of DDM collections incl 
managing ongoing access  

KA3, 
KA1 to 
KA6 

JM 
+ team - JS 
AM AW JD 
TT ADF KB 
TG NT  
 

Project runs 
until 
2020/21 
 
'new' 
museum 
opens Nov 
2017 

HLF PCC 
(TDDM 
project 
budget) 
£5M  

Support Portsmouth D-Day Museum 
Trust with fundraising activity 

KA4 JM   December 
2016 

TDDM 
budget 

2. Continuously improve standards of collection care and documentation, review and 
assess collections to enhance public access and engagement 

Undertake inventory work as required 
for Accreditation (as time permits)  

KA2 KB Ongoing NA 

Conserve Edward King paintings  SW October 
2017 

subject to 
funding  

3. Broaden involvement through special projects which take place in the community and 
the museum 

Support delivery of Paulsgrove 
Capturing the Spirit project 

KA1 P&W Trust 
SW/KB 

December 
2017 

P&W Trust 

Deliver new Butterfly House at 
Cumberland House in partnership with 
local wildlife groups  

KA1 RM 
(community 
team) 

May 
2017 

PCC 
funding 
£130K 
 

4. Provide a range of volunteering opportunities to enable people to be involved, gain 
skills and extend the reach of the service 

Facilitate input from  the 3 advisory 
panels supporting TDDM -young people, 
disability and schools and the 3 interns 
(paid / living wage) 

KA2 ADF 
TT 

Ongoing  TDDM 
budget  

Recruit and train volunteers to support 
a range of activities at the D-Day 
Museum and other sites 

KA2 ADF 
AMcG 

Ongoing TDDM 
budget 



 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

5. Improve marketing of programmes, emphasising the Museum Services brand in all that 
we do 

Marketing plan focussing on web and 
printed collateral supported by press 
and PR, social media and outdoor 
advertising.  

KA3 JS March 2017 £10K 
Museum 

Increase social media activity by 10% KA3  
KA6 

KB AW SW March 2017 Museum 
(as above) 

6. Provide lifelong learning opportunities within and beyond museum buildings that 
engage learners of all styles and ages, informal and informal education, including skills 
development 

Deliver events programme to 
complement the Edward King 
exhibition, including linked to the loan 
of the painting from TATE 

KA2 SW TT March 2017 subject to 
funding  

Deliver series of small displays of items 
from Portsmouth's Collections in the 
'print and drawings room'.   

KA2 SW 
March 2017 Museum 

7. Ensure sustainability and resilience  

Manage the catering and events 
contract at Southsea Castle to maximise 
income and quality and grow the 
wedding market 

KA4 JS  March 2017 NA 
 

Work with partners to improve signage 
at Southsea Castle 

Increase shop income at sites as part of 
Waterfront Gifts retail project  

Generate £18K through cash donations 

Support the installation of Game Over 
at Portsmouth Museum  

JS May 2016 
Ongoing  

NA 

Await H&S audit of the EBEH site, 
prepare action plan and implement.  

JM JS March 2017 £ tbc 
 

8. Diversify and increase workforce skills   

Deliver Welcome Host training to all 
frontline staff and volunteers using in-
house trainers 

KA5 JS March 2016  

Equip FOH staff to respond to D-Day 
enquiries through training and 
involvement in TDDM project 

KA5 AW March 2016 TDDM 
Budget  

9.  Develop new audiences using digital technology 

Develop new Website as part of TDDM  KA6 JM AW March 2017 TDDM 
budget 

 
















	Agenda
	3 Portsmouth Summer Show
	4 Bookfest 2017
	04.1  Appendix 1 - Bookfest Brochure
	04.2 EIA Bookfest

	5 Library and Archives Annual Update Report 2016/17
	05.1 Apendix 1 Prelim EIA Libraries and Archives Update

	6 Developing the D Day Museum Collection
	06.1 Development of D Day Museum Collection

	7 Portsmouth Museums Annual Update
	07.1 Appendix 2 EIA


